Eastleigh House
Upper Market Street
Eastleigh SO50 9YN

16 March 2021

NOTICE OF MEETING
BURSLEDON, HAMBLE-LE-RICE AND HOUND LOCAL AREA
COMMITTEE
will meet on
Wednesday, 24 March 2021
beginning at
6:00 pm
PLEASE NOTE: this is will be a ‘virtual meeting’. The meeting can be viewed
here: https://bit.ly/38LK0vO
TO:

Councillor Tonia Craig (Chair)
Councillor Steve Holes (Vice-Chair)
Councillor David Airey
Councillor Adam Manning

Staff Contacts:

Councillor Malcolm Cross
Councillor Jane Rich

Laura Johnston, Senior Democratic Services Officer Tel:
02380688041; Email: laura.johnston@eastleigh.gov.uk
Ross McClean, Local Area Manager Tel: 023 8068 3367; Email:
ross.mcclean@eastleigh.gov.uk

NATALIE WIGMAN
Corporate Director – Strategy
_____________________________________________________________________
Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk
as well as in other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and other
languages, upon request.

PLEASE NOTE that any member of the press and public may listenin to proceedings at this ‘virtual’ meeting via a weblink which will be
publicised on the Council website at least 24hrs before the meeting. It
is important, however, that Councillors can discuss and take
decisions without disruption, so the only participants in this virtual
meeting will be the Councillors concerned, the officers advising the
Committee and any participants who have registered in advance to
speak. This meeting will be recorded.

1

AGENDA
1.

Apologies

2.

Declarations of Interest
Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the
agenda. Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes.

3.

Minutes

(Pages 5 - 8)

To consider the minutes of the meeting held on 21 January 2021.
4.

Public Participation
Councillors not on the Local Area Committee and members of the public can
participate during this section of the meeting in the following ways:


If you are able to participate live (meet the technical requirements) and wish to
be present and speak, you will need to notify Democratic Services 4 working
days (Midday Thursday 18 March 2021) before the meeting. Technical and
etiquette guides will be provided.



Alternatively, the public can email a statement to be read out by ‘the
spokesperson’. Emailed statements will need to be received 2 working days
(Midday Monday 22 March 2021) before the date of the meeting. Democratic
Services will confirm receipt of the email and confirm it can be read out.



The statement (including questions) will be the equivalent of a maximum
of three minutes if read out. Please therefore restrict your statement to one
side of A4 (12 font). This applies audio/ video recordings also.



Alternatively a MP4 file will be sent to Democratic Services 4 working days
(Midday Thursday 18 March 2021) before the meeting. This must be
accompanied by a written transcript (emailed). In the event that the file does not
meet technical requirements the transcript will be read by the spokesperson
and shown on the screen.

Please contact us via democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk
5.

Chair's Announcements

6.

Financial Management Report

7.

Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) - Beach Lane, Netley

8.

Presentation on Planning Guidelines

9.

Planning Application - Mole Cottage, High Street, Bursledon, Southampton, SO31
8DL (Pages 65 - 82)

(Pages 9 - 48)
(Pages 49 - 64)

Construction of 1no. detached bungalow to replace existing dwelling and repairing

2

and extending the front boundary wall at the site entrance with new gates, bin/
cycle storage and associated landscaping. (F/20/89483)
10.

Planning Application - Carpark and Land to the rear of 67a to 83 New Road,
Netley, SO31 5BN (Pages 83 - 104)
Erection of 2no. 3 bed town houses and 6no. 2 & 3 bed bungalows with access
from New Road. (F/20/88749)

11.

Planning Appeals
The Head of Legal Services to report:(a)

that the following appeals have been lodged:Barncroft, Corner of Farm Close and Meadow Lane, Hamble-Le-Rice,
SO31 4RZ
Appeal against the Council’s refusal of a change of use from storage
building to 1no. one bedroom dwelling with associated vehicle parking, bin
and cycle storage, amenity area and landscaping. (F/20/88507)
This was a delegated decision.
Chalcot, York Road, Netley Abbey, Southampton. SO31 5DD
Appeal against the council’s refusal of planning permission for:
Application F/19/86252 – Construction of detached two bedroom dwelling
following demolition of existing dwelling and ancillary structures.
Application F/20/88114 - Erection of 1no. one-bedroom dwelling following
demolition of existing one-bedroom dwelling and garage.
Waters Edge, Lands End Road, Bursledon, Southampton. SO31 8DN
Appeal against the Council's refusal of planning permission for: Addition of
third floor, enlargement of raised terraces, alterations to fenestration.
(H/20/88346)
This was a delegated decision.

(b)

that the following appeals have been dismissed:LAND ADJACENT TO GRANGE ROAD, NETLEY. SO31 8GD
Appeal against the Council’s refusal of an enlarged stables/haystore.
(F/20/88060)
This was a delegated decision.
DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Thursday, 10 June 2021 at 6:00 pm

3

Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s
happening in the Borough. Simply select your topics and we will send you email
updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling,
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews

4

Agenda Item 3
1
BURSLEDON, HAMBLE-LE-RICE AND HOUND LOCAL AREA
COMMITTEE
Thursday, 21 January 2021 (6:00 pm – 7:02 pm)
PRESENT:
Councillor Holes (Chairman); Councillors Airey, Cross, Manning and Rich
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Craig.
In the absence of the Chair the meeting was chaired by the Vice Chair,
Councillor Holes. It was agreed that Councillor Manning would be ViceChair on this occasion.
________________________________________
RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY)
90.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on
the agenda.

91.

MINUTES
RESOLVED That the minutes of the meeting held on 3 December 2020 be
approved as correct.

92.

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
There was no public participation on this occasion.

93.

CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
The Chair did not make an announcement on this occasion.

94.

PRESENTATION ON PLANNING GUIDELINES
Housing and Development specialists gave a short presentation on
guidelines that had to be taken into account when determining planning
applications; in particular the issues that could, and could not, be taken
into account. This was set against the broader policy framework.

5

2

95.

PLANNING APPLICATION - THE COTTAGE, STATION ROAD,
BURSLEDON, SOUTHAMPTON, SO31 8AA
The Committee considered the report of the Planning Officer (Agenda item
7) concerning an application for removal of existing outbuilding
construction of a single storey front extension and detached car port with
cycle store. (Ref: H/20/88877).
Members were updated from the published report regarding an added
condition for a tree planting plan and to specify the trees as fruit trees.
Additionally, Old Bursledon Action Group (OBAG) submitted a do not
object prior to the meeting.

RESOLVED That permission be granted as per the committee report, with the
additional condition and a do not object from OBAG.
[NOTE: The applicants spoke in support of the application and stated that
having learned the history of the cottage, the preservation of the original
building was important in their plans.]
96.

PLANNING APPLICATION - ST GEORGES, KEW LANE, BURSLEDON,
SOUTHAMPTON, SO31 8DG
The Committee considered the report of the Planning Officer (Agenda item
8) concerning erection of Wooden Garden Studio to replace Wooden Shed
and Greenhouse. (Ref: H/20/88626).
Members were updated to adding in a restriction to include holiday lets to
the existing condition 5.
RESOLVED That permission be granted as per the committee report, subject to
the condition amendment and receiving comment from OBAG.

97.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT REPORT
The Committee considered a report by the Local Area Manager (Agenda
Item 9) which detailed a number of projects and schemes to improve the
prosperity, environment and wellbeing of residents in the Bursledon,
Hamble-le-Rice and Hound area.
RESOLVED –

6

3
That £18,100 was allocated for revenue costs of Bursledon Windmill
from existing annual revenue budget for 2020/21.
98.

PLANNING APPEALS
The Head of Legal Services reported:(a) that the following appeals had been lodged:Drove House, High Street, Bursledon. SO31 8DJ (F/20/87702)
Appeal against the Council's refusal of planning permission for the
construction of two storey 4-bedroom dwelling and detached double
garage following the demolition of the existing dwelling and garage.
This was a delegated decision.
Land Adjacent to Grange Road Netley, Southampton, SO31 8GD
(F/20/88060)
Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for the
raising of stable roof to provide loft storage space (Part retrospective).
This was a delegated decision.
(b) that the following appeals had been part allowed and part
dismissed:Lionheart Way Ecology Park, Lionheart Way, Bursledon, Southampton,
SO31 8GF (T/19/87084)
Appeal against the Council’s refusal to grant consent to undertake work
to trees protected by a Tree Preservation Order.
(c) that the following appeals had been dismissed:15 Bridge Close, Bursledon, Southampton, SO31 8AN (H/20/87956)
Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission to raise
ridge height and addition of dormer window to northwest side elevation.
The Chair thanked officers, Development Management Principal
Planning Officer, Kitty Budden, and Councillors Craig, Manning and
House for their hard work and contribution to the GE appeal defence.
RESOLVED That the report be noted.
M6620

7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
BURSLEDON HAMBLE-LE-RICE AND HOUND LOCAL AREA
COMMITTEE
Wednesday 24th March 2021
FINANCE MONITORING REPORT
Report of the Local Area Manager

Recommendations
It is recommended that;
(1)

£70,369 is allocated to the new Kingfisher Grange Play Area, from developer
contributions.

(2)

£74,938 is allocated to new Kestrel Park Play Area from developer
contributions.

(3)

£76,242 is allocated to the new Heron open space kick about area from
developer contributions.

(4)

£84,288 is allocated to the new Cleverly Rise Play area from developer
contributions.

(5)

£500,000 is allocated to Bursledon Parish Council for the renovation of Long
Lane Pavilion from developer contributions.

(6)

£65,000 is allocated to Bursledon Parish Council for play area refurbishment
on Long Lane Recreation Ground from developer contributions.

(7)

£20,000 is allocated to Bursledon Parish Council for play area refurbishment
on Woodlands Way from developer contributions.

(8)

£15,000 is allocated to Bursledon Parish Council for play are refurbishment
on Pilands Wood Open Space from developer contributions.

(9)

£60,000 is allocated to Bursledon Parish Council for play area refurbishment
on King George V Playing Fields from developer contributions.

(10)

£42,850 is allocated to Bursledon Parish Council for the refurbishment of the
tennis courts on Long Lane from developer contributions.

(11)

£36,884 is allocated to Bursledon Parish Council for the installation of signs,
benches and bins in the Bursledon area from developer contributions.

(12)

£100,000 is allocated to Hound Parish Council for the installation of a new
play area at Station Road from developer contributions.

9

10

(13)

£20,000 is allocated to Hound Parish Council for the installation of new gym
equipment at Station Road from developer contributions.

(14)

£20,000 is allocated to Hound Parish Council for the Ingleside Green project
from developer contributions.

(15)

£10,000 is allocated to Hound Parish Council to install a new kitchen at Parish
Hall from Developer Contributions.

(16)

£24,565 is allocated to Hound Parish Council for the installation of Hard
Landscape of road and car park in the new cemetery from developer
contributions.

(17)

£14,000 is allocated to the upgrade of Hamble Rail Trail from developer
contributions.

(18)

£120,616 is allocated to Hamble Parish Council towards the Mount Pleasant
re-development project from developer contributions.

(19)

£40,000 is allocated to Hamble Parish Council towards the new benches at
Southern Quay from developer contributions.

(20)

£6,968 is allocated towards the Mini Wildlife Project in Hamble from developer
contributions.

(21)

£10,000 is allocated towards the installation of replacement bins in Bursledon
Hamble and Hound from developer contributions.

(22)

£10,000 is allocated towards the installation of replacement benches in
Bursledon, Hamble and Hound from developer contributions.

(23)

Approve the Bursledon, Hamble & Hound (BHH) Local Area Action Plan
2021/22 shown in Appendix 1 for adoption and publication.

(24)

£500 is allocated to Chapel Music to deliver their 9 music concerts at Royal
Victoria Country Park. This will be funded from an annual revenue budget that
BHH has allocated for community grants.

(25)

£500 is allocated to Hamble Squash Club for the renovation and redecoration
of the toilets and entrance area from an annual revenue budget that BHH has
allocated for community grants.

(26)

£500 is allocated to Bursledon Hamble and Hound Dementia Action Group to
hire a dementia experience bus and print promotional flyers for a dementia
awareness event at Royal Victoria Country Park.

(27)

£240,307 is allocated towards the Implementation of the BHH Art strategy
from developer contributions.

(28)

It is noted that replacement bins on Hound Road and Ensign Way totalling
£970 were funded by an existing revenue budget.

Eastleigh Borough Council

(29)

It is noted that £80 is allocated from an existing revenue budget for the ‘Funds
for Prizes’ programme.

(30)

It is noted that £75 was allocated from an existing revenue budget to fix the
information board at The Bunny.

(31)

Approve £2,000 to fix the security fence around the emplacement on Hamble
Shore from the reserves budget.

Summary
This report contains recommendations for expenditure from the Committee’s developer
contributions and identifies funding for provision to meet local need and to enhance the
local area. The Local Area Committee’s support is sought to enable their implementation.
Statutory Powers
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 i.e., the Local Authority's general power of
competence, including power to act for the benefit of its area or persons resident or
present in its area. S.106 Town and Country Planning Act 1990

Strategic Implications
1. The works outlined below contribute to the following strategic priorities:




Local First: where possible taking decisions at a local level about things
which affect people’s lives, and using contributions from local
developments for local projects
Excellent Environment for all: creating a sense of place through improved
pathways, additional bins and air quality
Enabling health and wellbeing and tackling deprivation; improving
community infrastructure and places where different people can meet and
receive support and services. The recommendations in respect of play
areas reflect the Council’s strategy for improving physical and mental
health by encouraging informal, accessible, shared, outdoor play from a
young age in community locations.

Kingfisher Grange Play Area
2. It is proposed that officers develop three designs for each of the new play
areas at the Kingfisher Grange and Kestrel Park housing developments. Each
play area will be designed to meet the requirements of a LEAP (locally
equipped area for play), officers will take into account the close proximity of
each play area in developing designs to ensure each area provides a different
experience of play and is in keeping with the developments design setting.
3. It is recommended that this play area is funded from the following developer
contributions.
Eastleigh Borough Council

11

OSO/12/71828
Taylor Wimpey Southern Counties, Land West of Hamble
Lane, Bursledon
Receipt Date:08/04/2019

£70,369

Kestrel Park Play Area
4. It is proposed that officers to develop three designs for the new play areas at
the Kingfisher Grange and Kestrel Park housing developments. Each play
area will be designed to meet the requirements of a LEAP (locally equipped
area for play), officers will take into account the close proximity of each play
area in developing designs to ensure each area provides a different
experience of play and is in keeping with the developments design setting.
5. It is recommended that this play area is funded from the following developer
contributions.
OSO/12/71828Taylor Wimpey Southern Counties, Land £74,938
West of Hamble Lane, Bursledon
Receipt Date:08/04/2019

Heron Open Space
6. It is recommended that the Committee approve officers to scope designs for
the open space play area within this housing development.
7. It is recommended that Heron Open Space play area is funded from the
following developer contributions.
O/12/71828Taylor Wimpey Southern Counties, Land West
of Hamble Lane, Bursledon Receipt Date:30/09/2019

£76,242

Cleverley Rise Play Area
8. Officers have sourced three different designs for the proposed new play area
at Cleverley Rise which will conform to LEAP standards. A consultation with
local residents and local members will be implemented to select the preferred
design ready for installation in 2021.
9. It is recommended that the Cleverley Rise play area is funded from the
following developer contributions.

12

Eastleigh Borough Council

OSO/13/73701Bovis, Land North of Bridge Road & West of
Blundell Lane, Bursledon Receipt Date:20/11/2018

£ 42,292

DCO/13/73701Land to North of Bridge Road and West of
Blundell Road, Bursledon Receipt Date:10/05/2018

£33,953

DCO/13/73701Bovis Homes North of Bridge Rd & West of
Blundell Lane, Bursledon Receipt Date:04/04/2017

£8,043

TOTAL

£84,288

Renovation of Long Lane Pavilion
10. It is recommended that the funds identified below are utilised to rebuild and
completely renovate the Long Lane Pavilion. The pavilion is now at the point
where the cost of maintenance increases annually to ensure that the pavilion
complies with the relevant construction codes. We have reason to believe the
pavilion has asbestos and this means we can do very little to improve the
internal building. The Councils need for storage and operational space has
exceeded the space available at pavilion. The proposal would be to demolish
the pavilion and replace it with an easier to manage building for the benefit of
the residents and users of the Recreations ground. The renovation of the
pavilion will be project managed by the Parish Council. Regular updates on
the progress of the project will be reported back to BHH members.
11. Please note that permission is being sought from the relevant developers for
contributions F/18/82322 £77,785 & DCC/14/74932 £29,843, to alter what the
funding was initially intended for, which is acceptable to do so under the terms
of the S106 agreement.
F/18/82322Taylor Wimpey Southern Counties, Land South
of Bursledon Rd, Bursledon
Receipt Date:29/09/2020

£77,785

F/17/79863BDW Reading, Berry Farm, Hamble Lane,
Bursledon Receipt Date:17/01/2020

£18,941

DCO/12/71828Taylor Wimpey Southern Counties, Land
West of Hamble Lane, Bursledon Receipt Date:08/04/2019

£139,206

O/12/71828Taylor Wimpey Southern Counties, Land West
of Hamble Lane, Bursledon Receipt Date:30/09/2019

£141,629

Eastleigh Borough Council

13

DCC/14/74932Foreman Homes, Land to rear of Orchard
Lodge, Windmill Lane, Bursledon Receipt Date:12/08/2019

£29,843

DCO/13/73701Land to North of Bridge Road and West of £92,596
Blundell Road, Bursledon Receipt Date:10/05/2018
TOTAL

£500,000

Long Lane Play Area Refurbishment
12. The play equipment at Long Lane is over 15 years old and needs replacing. It
is recommended that the developer contributions as identified below are used
to replace ten pieces of equipment and improve the play area surface.
OSC/14/74932Foreman Homes, Land to rear of Orchard
Lodge, Windmill Lane, Bursledon Receipt Date:12/08/2019

£16,254

DCO/13/73701Land to North of Bridge Road and West of
Blundell Road, Bursledon Receipt Date:10/05/2018

£7,573

OSF/17/79863BDW Trading, Berry Farm, Hamble Lane,
Bursledon Receipt Date:15/09/2017

£41,173

TOTAL

£65,000

Woodlands Way Play Area Refurbishment
13. It is recommended that the developer contributions as identified below are
used to contribute towards the replacement of 6 new pieces of play
equipment, surface improvements and the installation of a bin at Woodlands
Way Play Area.
OSF/17/79863BDW Trading, Berry Farm, Hamble Lane,
Bursledon Receipt Date:15/09/2017
OSO/13/73701Bovis Homes North of Bridge Rd & West of
Blundell Lane, Bursledon Receipt Date:04/04/2017
F/17/79863BDW Reading, Berry Farm, Hamble Lane,
Bursledon Receipt Date:17/01/2020
TOTAL

Pilands Wood Open Space

14

Eastleigh Borough Council

£3,992
£12,667
£3,341
£20,000

14. It is recommended that developer contributions are utilised for the installation
of a new interpretation board, bin and benches along with a new footbridge at
Pilands Wood Woodland Park, and additionally, for the installation of four new
pieces of adult/teenage exercise equipment and improvements to the
surfacing at Pilands Open space (District Park).
15. It is recommended that these improvements are funded from the following
developer contribution.
F/17/79863BDW Reading, Berry Farm, Hamble Lane,
Bursledon Receipt Date:17/01/2020
TOTAL

£ 15,000
£ 15,000

King George V Playing Fields
16. It is recommended that the identified developer contribution below are utilised
to make improvements to the play area surface and install new play
equipment to the play area at King George V Playing Fields.
F/17/79863BDW Reading, Berry Farm, Hamble Lane,
Bursledon Receipt Date:17/01/2020
TOTAL

£ 60,000
£ 60,000

Tennis Court Refurbishment Long Lane
17. The tennis court located on Long Lane is in need of a deep clean, surface
improvements, lines repainting, new nets and improvements to fencing.
Working in partnership with the Lawn Tennis Association (LTA), these
improvements will hopefully encourage more residents to use the court.
18. The following developer contributions have been identified to implement these
improvements.
F/17/79863BDW Reading, Berry Farm, Hamble Lane,
Bursledon Receipt Date:17/01/2020
OSO/13/73701Bovis Homes re North of Bridge Rd West of
Blundell Lane Receipt Date:09/11/2016
TOTAL

£ 1,784
£41,066
£ 42,850.

Bursledon Parish Council Sign / Bin and Benches
19. A number of bins and benches have been identified for replacements or
improvements in the Bursledon area. Additional signage is also needed to
indicate entries/exits of the Parish and local areas of Lowford, Pilands Wood
Eastleigh Borough Council

15

and Old Bursledon. The following developer contributions have been identified
to implement these improvements.
20. Please note that permission is being sought from the relevant developers for
contribution DCC/14/74932 £21,206 to alter what the funding was initially
intended for, which is acceptable to do so under the terms of the S106
agreement.
DCC/14/74932Foreman Homes re Windmill Lane,
Bursledon Receipt Date:28/04/2017
DCF/14/74789Southcott Homes, Pylands House, Pylands
Lane, Bursledon Receipt Date:29/10/2015
OSC/14/74932Foreman Homes, Land to rear of Orchard
Lodge, Windmill Lane, Bursledon Receipt Date:12/08/2019
DCF/13/72512Mr Wilshire, Victoria Cottage, Lowford Hill,
Bursledon Receipt Date:24/06/2013
TOTAL

£21,206
£7,714
£2,977
£4,987
£36,884

New Play Area at Station Road
21. The current play area at Station Road in Netley is nearing the end of its life
and it is therefore recommended that we use the following developer
contributions to replace and improve it. A consultation is planned with local
residents and users to identify the needs and suitable equipment for the play
area. The redevelopment of the Station Road play area will be project
managed by the Parish Council. Regular updates on the progress of the
project will be reported back to BHH members.

16

OSO/14/74322Foreman Homes Land at Providence Hill,
Bursledon Receipt Date:29/08/2017
F/17/79863BDW Reading, Berry Farm, Hamble Lane,
Bursledon Receipt Date:17/01/2020
OSF/14/75048Hampton Property Developments Ltd, r/o 29
Station Road, Netley Abbey Receipt Date:08/05/2015
OSF/17/80123Goodwill Homes Ltd., 100 Station Road,
Netley Abbey Receipt Date:31/05/2019
OSF/14/75048Hampton Property Developments Ltd, r/o 29
Station Road, Netley Abbey Receipt Date:08/05/2015
OSC/13/72388Highwood Group, Netley Court School,
Victoria Road, Netley Abbey Receipt Date:29/11/2013

£ 54,614

O/15/76883 Land to North of Cranbury Gardens paid
28/01/21
OSF/17/80123Goodwill Homes Ltd., 100 Station Road,
Netley Abbey Receipt Date:31/05/2019

£2,747

Eastleigh Borough Council

£27,668
£14
£3,577
£480
0.30p

£10,900

TOTAL

£ 100,000

New Gym Equipment at Station Road
22. Three pieces of the gym equipment are due to be decommissioned and
removed from Station Road. It is proposed that the developer contributions
identified will go towards purchasing new equipment and moving the gym
equipment stations closer to the play area, which is currently located over 200
yards away. The three pieces of equipment are due to be removed this year
and the rest of the gym equipment removed in 2022
O/15/76883 Land to North of Cranbury Gardens paid
28/01/21
TOTAL

£20,000
£20,000

Ingleside Green Project
23. The current play area at Ingleside Green in Netley is rundown and in need of
improvements. The site currently consists of a basketball hoop and a goal/
climbing net which are at the end of their life. It is recommended that we use
the identified developer contributions to consult with the local community and
develop a new play area at Ingleside aligned to the community’s needs.
O/15/76883 Land to North of Cranbury Gardens paid
28/01/21
TOTAL

£20,000
£20,000

New Kitchen at Hound Parish Hall
24. Currently, Hound Parish Hall has a small kitchen that is 30 years old. It
requires replacement to include, five units, a new oven and fridge and
improvements to pipe work. Additionally, the serving hatch needs to be
removed in the small hall. It is recommended that the following developers’
contribution is utilised for these works:
DCF/17/80123Goodwill Homes Ltd., 100 Station Road,
Netley Abbey Receipt Date:31/05/2019
TOTAL

£10,000
£10,000

Hard landscape of road and car park in the new cemetery

Eastleigh Borough Council

17

25. Planning permission has been granted to extend the burial areas at Hound
Cemetery. It is recommended that the identified developer contributions below
are used to create a new road and an additional small car park in the new
burial area and the existing gravel path is extended from the current burial
area at near capacity to the new area.
DCF/17/80123Goodwill Homes Ltd., 100 Station Road,
Netley Abbey Receipt Date:31/05/2019
O/15/76883 Land to North of Cranbury Gardens paid
28/01/21
DCF/15/77218Mr K P Medley-Jones, Land r/o The
Crescent, Netley Abbey Receipt Date:30/11/2015
TOTAL

£7,209
£16,420
£936
£24,565

Hamble Rail Trail
26. Hamble Rail Trail is an important route to enable residents and visitors to get
to and from the Schools located in the area, the station and health centre
without recourse to the road. The surfacing currently is in need of
improvement to enable all year-round use. The area covered is
approximately 450m x 2m and will comprise of a compacted overlay of Waren
Hammer Self Binding Gravel at a depth of 40mm.
27. It is recommended that these improvements are funded from the following
developers’ contributions.
TRF/13/73744Mrs E Bridges, Astons, 131a Satchell Lane,
Hamble Receipt Date:09/09/2014
TRC/12/70494Mr Wyatt & Mr Davey The Anchorage, High
Street, Hamble Receipt Date:20/09/2012
O/15/76883 Land to North of Cranbury Gardens paid
28/01/21
TOTAL

£4859
£2502
£6639
£14,000

Mount Pleasant Redevelopment
28. It is recommended that £120,616 of developer contributions are allocated to
make improvements to the heavily used skate park and play area at Mount
Pleasant. The renewal of these two assets will be part of a wider programme
of improvements linked to the redevelopment of the Pavilion.
29. It is recommended that these improvements are funded from the following
developers’ contributions.

18

Eastleigh Borough Council

DCO/14/74322Foreman Homes Land at Providence Hill,
Bursledon Receipt Date:29/08/2017
DCF/11/68429Miss Shirley M Henderson, c/o R C Gunn, 78 Admirals Court, Green Lane, Hamble Receipt
Date:13/04/2011
DCC/32181/005Mr C Harris, 18 Satchell Lane, Hamble
Receipt Date:04/04/2011
DCC/15/77139Ian Fairburn, Capstan House, High Street,
Hamble Receipt Date:27/11/2015
OSC/15/77139Ian Fairburn, Capstan House, High Street,
Hamble Receipt Date:27/11/2015
OSF/13/73744Mrs E Bridges, Astons, 131a Satchell Lane,
Hamble Receipt Date:09/09/2014
OSF/12/70950Mr J Donaldson, 72 Hamble Lane, Hamble
(top up for F/09/65464) Receipt Date:31/07/2012
OSF/09/65464Mrs Donaldson 72 Hamble Lane, Hamble
(see
extant
permission
F/12/70950)
Receipt
Date:27/08/2009
OSF/09/64933Atlantic Housing Ltd, Garage Court Adj to 50
Beech Gardens, Hamble-le-Rice Receipt Date:09/06/2009
OSF/13/73744Mrs E Bridges, Astons, 131a Satchell Lane,
Hamble Receipt Date:09/09/2014
OSF/09/64935Atlantic Housing Ltd, Garage Court Adj to 7 &
9 Beech Gardens, Hamble-le-Rice Receipt Date:09/06/2009
F/17/79863BDW Reading, Berry Farm, Hamble Lane,
Bursledon Receipt Date:17/01/2020

£102,806

TOTAL

£120,616

£185

£302
£2,443
£1,341
£980
£4
£108

£1,303
£308
£2,606
£8230

Benches at Southern Quay
30. The concrete benches on the Southern Quay in Hamble are in poor state of
repair and require replacement. It is recommended that developers
contributions are allocated to replace them with a different and more modern
style of seating to create a much improved ambience and encourage greater
dwell time at the Quay
31. It is recommended that these improvements are funded from the following
developer’s contribution.
O/15/76883 Land to North of Cranbury Gardens paid
28/01/21
TOTAL

Eastleigh Borough Council

£40,000
£40,000

19

Mini Wildlife Habitat
32. It is recommended that £6,968 of developer contributions are allocated to
create to create a mini wildlife habitat along Sydney Avenue in Hamble. It will
consist of new trees, bushes and species, with rice grassland being
introduced, along with the installation of a fence and dragons teeth. This work
would be carried out by the EBC Direct Services team. The following
developer’s contribution have been identified as suitable for this scheme:
OSO/14/74322Foreman Homes Land at Providence Hill,
Bursledon Receipt Date:29/08/2017
TOTAL

£6,968
£6,968

BHH Bin replacement Budget
33. It is recommended a dedicated fund of £10,000 is created to instal dual use
bins in the community. All new requests for bins will be assessed by the
Local Response team and installed by Direct Services.
34. It is recommended that the following developer’s contribution is allocated for
this purpose:
O/15/76883 Land to North of Cranbury Gardens Receipt
Date:28/01/21

£10,000

TOTAL

£10,000

BHH Benches replacement Budget
35. It is recommended a fund of £10,000 is created to repair or improve existing
benches in strategic locations on public highways and open spaces as and
when required. All requests will be assessed by the EBC Local Area Services
with works carried out by Direct Services. A pot of £10,000 from the identified
Developer Contributions below will be used as and when requests for bench
improvements are received.
O/15/76883 Land to North of Cranbury Gardens Receipt
Date: 28/01/21

£10,000

TOTAL

£10,000

Local Area Action Plan

20

Eastleigh Borough Council

36. The Local Area Action Plan (LAAP) is used to determine budgets and staff
resources as part of the Council’s annual business planning cycle. It also
highlights the key local partnerships within the local area as well as outlining
the roles of the Committee and Local Area Manager.
37. Local Councillors and Parish clerks have contributed and been consulted on
this updated plan and it is now recommended that the BHH Local Area Action
Plan 2021/22 is approved for adoption and publication as shown in Appendix
1.

Grant for Chapel Music
38. It is recommended to award a £500 grant to Chapel Music in order to deliver
nine concerts at Royal Victoria Country Park in 2021 which is compliant with
Covid restrictions. The grant will help pay for publicity and promotional
material. Approval is recommended subject to the group producing a
safeguarding policy.
39. The grant can be funded from an annual revenue budget that BHH has
allocated for community grants.

Grant for Hamble Squash Club
40. It is recommended to award a £500 grant to Hamble Squash Club to renovate
and redecorate the entrance and toilets at the club.
41. The grant can be funded from an annual revenue budget that BHH has
allocated for community grants.

Grant for Bursledon Hamble-Le-Rice and Hound Dementia
Action Group
42. It is recommended to award a £500 grant to the Bursledon, Hamble and
Hound Dementia Action Group to support their Dementia awareness event at
Royal Victoria Country Park. The grant funding will be used to hire a
dementia awareness bus, and to fund advertising, flyers, and banners.
43. The grant can be funded from an annual revenue budget that BHH has
allocated for community grants.

BHH Public Art Vision
44. Following recent discussions with LAC Councillors and Parish Clerks
regarding the public art wayfinding trail, which has recently been funded
through a grant for South Western Railway (SWR) and S106 funds, the need
for a BHH public art vision has been identified. This would provide a
framework for public art installations within BHH and ensure that individual
public art projects are more cohesive and complementary to existing
infrastructure. The Public Art Vision will develop the idea of combining public
art and wayfinding in more detail and will set out the aspirations and

Eastleigh Borough Council

21

objectives for new wayfinding trails and consider how best to enhance and
integrate existing facilities such as the Strawberry Trail.
45. Trails identified though the visioning work will aim to link open spaces within
BHH as well as the rail stations, local centres, open spaces, other key
destinations and places of interest within BHH. Works could include freestanding “sculptural” pieces, play spaces and play structures, street furniture,
lighting or any other medium considered appropriate following community
engagement. The trails will not only improve legibility in the area for residents
and visitors, but also deliver added local distinctiveness, visual enhancement
to the public realm, encourage active travel and greater physical activity,
improve mental health, and support delivery of the objectives set out in the
Corporate Plan.
46. The Committee is asked to approve the draft BHH Public Art Vision Project
Initiation Document (PID) (see Appendix 2) and support the allocation of
£240,307 of S106 funding towards the development of a public art vision and
the phased delivery of public art wayfinding trails and similar active travel
interventions across the BHH area.

22

O/15/76883Taylor Wimpey Southern Counties, Land to
North of Cranbury Gardens, Bursledon Receipt
Date:29/09/2020

£7,825

F/18/82322Taylor Wimpey Southern Counties, Land South
of Bursledon Rd, Bursledon Receipt Date:29/09/2020

£21,581

F/17/79863BDW Reading, Berry Farm, Hamble Lane,
Bursledon Receipt Date:17/01/2020

£35,807

F/18/82322Taylor Wimpey Southern Counties, Land South
of Bursledon Rd., Bursledon Receipt Date:30/09/2019

£21,473

O/12/71828Taylor Wimpey Southern Counties, Land West
of Hamble Lane, Bursledon Receipt Date:30/09/2019

£32,265

DCC/14/74932Foreman Homes, Land to rear of Orchard
Lodge, Windmill Lane, Bursledon Receipt Date:12/08/2019

£6,209

DCO/13/73701Bovis Homes North of Bridge Rd & West of
Blundell Lane, Bursledon Receipt Date:03/06/2019

£38,117

DCO/12/71828Taylor Wimpey Southern Counties, Land
West of Hamble Lane, Bursledon Receipt Date:08/04/2019

£19,028

DCO/12/71828Taylor Wimpey Southern Counties re Land
W of Hamble Lane Receipt Date:09/02/2018

£12,137

DCF/17/79863BDW Trading, Berry Farm, Hamble Lane,
Bursledon Receipt Date:15/09/2017

£34,381

Eastleigh Borough Council

DCO/14/74322Foreman Homes Land at Providence Hill,
Bursledon Receipt Date:29/08/2017

£5,589

DCC/14/74932Foreman Homes re
Bursledon Receipt Date:28/04/2017

£5,895

Windmill

Lane,

TOTAL

£ 240,307

Replacement Bins on Ensign Way and Hound Road
47. Both bins Ensign Way and Hound Road have deteriorated beyond repair and
will be replaced with dual use bins. The current bin on Hound Road is located
at the end of the public footpath leading from Netley Rail Station to Hound
Road. The cost to replace this bin was £310. The bin on Ensign way is a
double dual use which is heavily used and needs to be replaced. The cost to
replace this double dual bin was £660. The committee is asked to note the
total replacement cost of £970 was funded by an existing revenue budget.

Funds for prizes
48. This Committee is asked to note that the Council has awarded £80 towards a
prize fund for a creative poster competition, led by a local PCSO. The
competition is aimed at children in BHH and HEWEB and each area will have
a prize with 4 age categories.

The Bunny sign on Hound Way/St Marys Road
49. This Committee is asked to note that the interpretation board at The Bunny
near Ingleside has been reinstated. The cost to reinstate the board was £75
and the work was carried out by Direct Services.

Fencing around the emplacement at Hamble Shore
50. Following relocation of the BOFOR gun it is advised by the EBC Health and
Safety team that urgent repairs are required to the fence around the original
emplacement. The damage has been caused by coastal erosion and
degradation of the emplacement concrete slabs. The integrity of the structure
is becoming more unstable and urgent repairs to the fencing are required to
protect residents from partial structure collapse and prevent individuals from
accessing the unsafe structure. It is worth noting that Historic England are
prepared for the emplacement to naturally degrade and it is likely that further
funds will be required and a review of the fencing to ensure ongoing safety.
A sum of £2,000 is required to repair the fence. It is recommended This
funding will be taken from the BHH LAC reserves.

Financial Implications
Eastleigh Borough Council

23

51. The recommendations in this report can be contained within existing allocated
and unallocated developer contributions, allocated revenue budgets and
reserves.

Risk Assessment
52. The majority of the recommendations in this report carry a low or low to
moderate risk to the Council, focusing on modernising play facilities and
community infrastructure, that should they be left to deteriorate, they will
become an increased risk and likely increased financial burden.
53. The urgent repair of the broken fence at the emplacement on Hamble shore
has been identified as a health and safety issue and if not addressed
imminently it will present a risk to public safety
54. Due to the number of projects being funded, a basic template will be created
to monitor project commencement, project update, risk controls, updated
spend and key actions involved in each project. This template will be utilised
by the Parish Clerks and presented back at BHH team meetings.

Equality and Diversity Implications
55. The Equality Act is relevant to the decisions in this report because as the
decisions relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of
opportunity, or fostering good relations between different people.
56. A full Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out, because
while there are some equalities impacts, it is not proportionate to carry out a
full EIA across the recommendations of the report. However, an EIA or due
regard will need to be applied at the design stage of the community facility
improvements and the installation of new play areas from an accessibility
perspective. Many of the proposals will have a positive impact on the
community, but an EIA or due regard will be applied to each project to ensure
equal access to all.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications
57. The recommendations within this report will have a moderate impact
regarding climate change. If approved, the new community spaces will be built
to modern standards and will have far superior green infrastructure and party
to the Councils green planning requirements. They will have far less carbon
emissions through greater insulation and renewable forms of energy.
58. The provision of improved and new localised play areas will reduce the need
of parents to travel to neighbouring play areas, therefore reducing the number
of car journeys, again though admittedly small in carbon reduction, still a
reduction in emissions.

24

Eastleigh Borough Council

Conclusion
59. These recommendations are now submitted for Councillors’ final approval
from the Local Area Committee’s available unallocated developer
contributions and revenue budgets and reserves.
ROSS MCCLEAN
LOCAL AREA MANAGER (BHH)
Date:
05 Mar 2021
Contact Officer:
Ross McClean
Tel No:
023 8068 3367
e-mail:
ross.mcclean@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached:
2
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D
The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which
this report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a
material extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any
published works or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential
information.
None.

Eastleigh Borough Council

25

This page is intentionally left blank

Cllr Tonia Craig - Local Area Chair

Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice
& Hound (BHH)

tonia.craig@eastleigh.gov.uk

Local Area Action Plan
2021/22

Hiltingbury
Chandler’s
Ford
Bishopstoke
Horton
Heath

Eastleigh

Fair
Oak

West
End
Hedge
End

Responsibilities of the
Local Area Committee
Champion the local area
Decide local priorities
Manage local budgets
Determine local levels of council services such
as Streetscene and traffic management
▶ Work with the local community
▶ Decide planning applications
▶
▶
▶
▶

Responsibilities of the
Local Area Manager
▶ Act as a link between the Council and local
people
▶ Support local Councillors
▶ Support and work in partnership with the
Parish Council
▶ Manage the local revenue budget and the
capital programme/major projects
▶ Work with the Council to improve local
services and to ensure value for money
▶ Identify local needs and priorities
▶ Work closely with Parish Councils, schools
and community groups

27

Ross McClean - Local Area Manager
Ross.mcclean@eastleigh.gov.uk 023 8068 3367

Botley

Key Projects & Priorities
▶ Bursledon Station car-park
– following the completed
feasibility study produce an
action plan for improvements
▶ New location for Windhover
kestrel
▶ Review Car Parking provision in
Netley Abbey
▶ Implement Public art strategy
and way finder project for the
peninsula
▶ Implement three electric
car charging points across
Bursledon, Hamble and Hound
▶ Review and formalise a Service
Level Agreement to support the
Bursledon Windmill

▶ Carry out improvement to
Hamble rail Trail
▶ Open new play areas at
Kingfisher Grange, Kestrel
Park and Cleverley Rise and
improvements to existing play
areas on the peninsula

▶ Corporate Communications
▶ Direct Services – leaf clearance,
benches, bins, fencing

Netley
Hamblele-Rice

Key Partnerships

▶ Support Bursledon Parish Council
in the commencement of a
project to make improvements to
Long Lane Recreation ground

▶ Bursledon Parish Council

▶ Review and make
recommendations to improve
the local grants process

▶ Bursledon District Community
Association

▶ Work towards the opening of
the Country Park at Bursledon
for April 2022

Council Services - Local Variations
▶ Country Parks and Land
Management – Hamble Common

Bursledon

▶ Locality Area Services – car
parks at Hamble Square, Netley
and the Lowford Centre
▶ Support Services – Community
Grants/Finance
▶ Specialist Services – Traffic
Regulation Orders and traffic studies

▶ Hamble Parish Council
▶ Hound Parish Council

▶ Pilands Wood Community
Association
▶ Hamble School and Sports
Complex
▶ Primary schools
▶ Health centres
▶ Mercury volunteers
▶ Youth Options
▶ Hampshire County Council/
Hamble River Authority
▶ Hampshire Police
▶ Local businesses including GE
Aviation, BP and Coopervision

This page is intentionally left blank

Eastleigh Borough Council
Project Initiation Document

Project Initiation Document
Project Details
Project Name

BHH Public Art Vision Project (including the BHH History and Heritage Wayfinding
project)
Community Projects
Aliis Kodis
Ross McClean
tbc

Programme Board
Project Manager
Project Sponsor
Date Approved

Document Details
Version Status (draft
or
approved)
1.2
Approved
1.3
Approved

Date

Details of change

24/8/20 Added Procurement, Communications and IT scoring sections
5/11/20 Added sign off front page

Essential Consultees (must have read and feedback on the PID before submission)
Name

Title

Tom Andrews
Liz Suatt
Diccon Bright
Angela Taylor
Ian Austin
James Battle
Jade Mizen
Damian Biles

Senior Accountant
Lead Asset Manager
Strategic Planning Manager
Senior Project Manager
Lead Solicitor
Lead IT Manager
Head of Communications
PMO Manager

Date
Reviewed
02/03/2021

Approved (Y/N)
N

2/3/21

29

Eastleigh Borough Council
Project Initiation Document

Table of Contents
1.

Introduction .................................................................................................................................................................... 4
1.1.

2.

Background ............................................................................................................................................................. 4

Project Definition ........................................................................................................................................................... 4
2.1.

Purpose ................................................................................................................................................................... 4

2.2.

Project Objectives .................................................................................................................................................. 4

2.3.

Project Scope .......................................................................................................................................................... 5

2.4.

Project deliverables (Products) .............................................................................................................................. 6

2.5.

Exclusions................................................................................................................................................................ 6

2.6.

Post Implementation.............................................................................................................................................. 6

2.7.

Constraints .............................................................................................................................................................. 7

2.7.1.
Priority ..................................................................................................................... 7
2.7.2.
Timescale ................................................................................................................. 7
2.7.3.
Dependencies .......................................................................................................... 8
2.7.4.
Interfaces to other projects .................................................................................... 8
2.7.5.
Planning Considerations (delete if not applicable) ................................................. 8
2.8. Assumptions ........................................................................................................................................................... 8
3.

Business Case.................................................................................................................................................................. 9
3.1.

Initial Business Case ............................................................................................................................................... 9

3.2.

Benefits ................................................................................................................................................................. 10

3.3.

Budget ................................................................................................................................................................... 11

3.4.

Council Priorities .................................................................................................................................................. 12

4.

IT Prioritisation ............................................................................................................................................................. 13

5.

Project Organisation..................................................................................................................................................... 14
5.1.

Project Organisation Structure ............................................................................................................................ 14

5.2.

Role Profiles .......................................................................................................................................................... 14

6.

Project Plan................................................................................................................................................................... 15
6.1.

Project Plan ........................................................................................................................................................... 15

6.2.

Communications Plan........................................................................................................................................... 16

6.3.

Procurement ......................................................................................................................................................... 17

6.4.

Branding Plan........................................................................................................................................................ 17

7.

Project Controls ............................................................................................................................................................ 17

2

30

Eastleigh Borough Council
Project Initiation Document
7.1.

Tolerances............................................................................................................................................................. 17

7.2.

Method of approach ............................................................................................................................................ 17

7.3.

Exception Process ................................................................................................................................................. 17

7.4.

Initial Risk Log and Mitigations ............................................................................................................................ 18

8.

IT and Data Security ..................................................................................................................................................... 18

9.

Training ......................................................................................................................................................................... 18

10.

Equality / Diversity ................................................................................................................................................... 18

11.

Data Protection (applies to all projects)................................................................................................................... 18

If yes, please send completed full DPIA to DPO at dp@eastleigh.gov.uk............................................................................. 19
12.

Construction Information (delete if n/a, only applies to projects involving construction) ..................................... 19

12.1.

CDM 2015 ......................................................................................................................................................... 19

12.2.

Health and Safety File (delete if n/a, only applies to projects involving construction) ................................... 19

13.

Incorporating Lessons Learned ................................................................................................................................ 19

3

31

Eastleigh Borough Council
Project Initiation Document
1.

Introduction
1.1.

Background

The BHH Public Art Vision project came about following the award of £65,000 from the South Western Railway
Customer and Communities Improvement Fund (CCIF) in February 2020 for improvements to wayfinding related to
the three rail stations in the BHH Local Area. Match funding of £20,000 from S106 contributions was allocated to the
CCIF project by BHH LAC in September 2020.
Meanwhile, Bursledon parish had separately considered public art investment, also with a focus on trails, wayfinding
and similar active travel interventions. Because the two projects share many of the same objectives, discussion
between officers and parish clerks of the three parishes concluded that the Vision would develop into an “umbrella”
project that would set out a clear strategy for public art within BHH. This would broadly adopt the ethos already
developed by Bursledon. Following agreement of the vision, resulting projects such as the History and Heritage
project be developed and delivered.
Due to the timescales imposed by the CCIF funding, the “Phase 1” project – BHH History and Heritage Wayfinding
Trail – would need to proceed ahead of the Public Art Vision and act as the catalyst for future public art interventions
within the Local Area. Nevertheless, it still retains strong links to the Strategy and therefore shares a Business Case
and PIM with this more strategic project. Research and work on the Vision will, however, be developed where
possible in parallel with the BHH History and Heritage Wayfinding Trail to ensure mutual benefits and compatibility.

2.

Project Definition
2.1.

Purpose

To produce a BHH public art vision as an ‘umbrella’ and objective and context setting exercise.
To deliver an Artist-led wayfinding trail following receipt of funding from the CCIF.
To work in partnership with the local community to identify and support the delivery of further public art projects
which will further enhance legibility and connectivity of the BHH area and support the Council’s to achieve its
Corporate Objectives

2.2.

Project Objectives

The project seeks to deliver a series of Artist-led wayfinding interventions throughout the Local Area of BHH informed
through community engagement. Works could include free-standing “sculptural” pieces, embedded artworks within
the urban fabric, play spaces and play structures, street furniture, lighting or any other medium considered
appropriate following community engagement.
The project will be measured through the successful development of a public art vision and the delivery and
installation of artworks as defined in the relevant Artist’s Brief and Contract.
The artworks will support all three Corporate Themes:
Green Borough
Improving the environment for active travel and access to public transport will tackle local traffic congestion and
associated air pollution by reducing car usage. This project will also significantly improve the quality and functionality
of this local area by making it more attractive to use by a wider range of people, particularly for pedestrians. It will
deliver an attractive environment that better provides for people’s recreational and social requirements whether
they are residents, workers, visitors or investors.

4

32

Eastleigh Borough Council
Project Initiation Document
Healthy Communities
Encouraging active travel and greater physical activity will benefit people’s physical and mental health and well-being.
There is also the potential for this project to go some way towards reducing health inequalities.
Prosperous Place
The project will support the aim of ensuring the Borough is seen as a desirable place to set up a new business or
relocate an existing one by demonstrating investment in and, creating an environment that is attractive and easy to
find your way around. Further, extension of the project into local centres and other key destinations will support the
creation of vibrant and distinctive places that people want to explore and spend time in.
The project will help address all the local issues in the BHH area as identified in the Corporate Plan 2015 – 2025:
 Tackle local congestion and pollution on Hamble Lane
 Address health inequalities in Pilands Wood and Netley Abbey
 Support local businesses with improvements at Coronation Parade and Station Road
 Improving open spaces and neighbourhoods

2.3.

Project Scope

To produce a BHH public art vision as an ‘umbrella’ and future context setting exercise.
To conceive a number of individual, but connected, public art projects that will deliver a series of wayfinding trails
within the BHH Local Area to promote Healthy Living. These will complement trails already in existence such as the
Strawberry Trail. The proposed trails will link open spaces within BHH as well as the rail stations, local centres, open
spaces, other key destinations and places of interest within BHH. The trails will not only improve legibility in the area
for residents and visitors, but also deliver added local distinctiveness visual enhancement to the public realm and
support delivery of the objectives set out in the Corporate Plan. Whilst the project is focused on the delivery of public
art there is an opportunity to also identify accessibility improvements that will help to make routes more accessible.
However, accessibility improvements in themselves are beyond the scope of this project and would therefore have to
be addressed and funded outside of this work.
A Public Art Vision will be produced to develop the idea in more detail. This will set out the aspirations and objectives
for the new wayfinding trails that will come forward independently as s106 funding is made available and allocated to
new projects. Importantly, it will support projects that seek to address the local issues identified in the Corporate Plan
– see above. It will seek to establish routes in a strategic and, where practical, a cohesive and connected network.
A Steering Group comprising representatives from each BHH Parish, the LAM and the relevant EBC Officers will review
the wayfinding work as funding is made available and make recommendations to the LAC on a range of issues. The
Public Art Vision will be a living document that will be updated from time to time as projects are delivered and
additional funding becomes available. Each wayfinding trail will be required to conform to the broader Vision, and the
project briefs for these will be worded accordingly.
The Phase 1 project, which already has funding of £85,000 secured (see 3.1), will support the anticipated vision and
will act as the exemplar scheme. The Business Case and associated PIM and PID for the Public Art Vision will therefore
apply to Phase 1 and any other future projects that may come forward. New project proposals will be presented to
the LAC for approval.

5

33

Eastleigh Borough Council
Project Initiation Document

2.4.

Project deliverables (Products)

For the BHH Public Art Vision:


The production of a Vision to provide the context, direction and background information for the work on
forthcoming wayfinding routes.



Undertake robust stakeholder and community engagement on the proposed Vision

For History and Heritage Wayfinding and each future wayfinding trail:


An Artist’s Brief written in accordance with the Public Art Strategy, to support the Artist commissioning process
and set out the objectives for an individual wayfinding route. (A brief is already in production for Phase 1 to
support delivery of the BHH History and Heritage Wayfinding Trail)



The subsequent commissioning of a suitable Lead Artist



The production of a Concept by the Artist that fulfils the objectives of the Brief, and is informed by robust
stakeholder and community engagement



Engagement with Hampshire County Council regarding Highways Licences required



The production of detailed drawings to inform the fabrication of the artworks



The fabrication of the artworks



The installation of the artworks



A launch event to celebrate closure of the project



A clear plan and agreement with any landowners/stakeholders/Highway Authority for ongoing maintenance

The process normally takes 18-24 months from project approval, depending on the complexity of the objectives in the
brief.

2.5.

Exclusions



Carrying out additional decluttering works to remove defunct highways signs, lines, guardrail or other
paraphernalia over and above that directly required to deliver a particular wayfinding route



Carrying out maintenance of soft landscape (strimming, clearing overhanging vegetation etc.) over and above
that directly required to deliver a particular wayfinding route



Introduce traffic calming or other measures in the carriageway that may be requested by the community over
and above those that may be proposed as part of a wayfinding route

2.6.

Post Implementation

BHH Public Art Vision
On completion of the document, it will be used to inform and select new suitable public art projects for delivery
within the BHH Local Area. The Vision will be administered by specialists from the Urban and Landscape Design Team
in liaison with the Steering Group and the three parishes. This group will make recommendations to the Local Area

6

34

Eastleigh Borough Council
Project Initiation Document
Committee on the allocation of funding towards new projects and aspects of design, delivery and maintenance.
History and Heritage Wayfinding Trail
Following completion and installation of the artworks, there will be a one-year defects liability period. Should an
artwork fail for any reason due to the construction method or materials used by the artist or their suppliers, the Artist
will be required to rectify the problem. A portion of the Artist’s Commission is held back for this purpose and this
money is used to fund repair/replacement. Should an issue arise, the Artist will need to liaise with the Urban and
Landscape Design Team. Notwithstanding the defects liability period, the artworks will come into the ownership of
the LAC once in place. The Steering group will make recommendations to the LAC on allocating funds from the project
budget for ongoing maintenance and decommissioning. In the past a figure of 10% of the physical commission’s costs
has typically been reserved for this purpose.

2.7.

Constraints
2.7.1. Priority

The BHH Public Art Vision should be taken forward in parallel with the History and Heritage Wayfinding Trail.
The History and Heritage Wayfinding Trail must be taken forward now due to the timescales set out in the terms and
conditions of the CCIF bid (see 3.1) that has made this project possible and, sufficient resources need to be allocated
to enable this to happen.

2.7.2.

Timescale
Insert here the timescales in which the project stages will be completed.
BHH Public Art Vision Stage
Target Date
Start Up
Winter ‘20/’21
Initiation
Winter ‘20/’21
Management Stages
Spring ’21 –Autumn’21
Closure
Winter ‘21/’22
History and Heritage Wayfinding Trail Stage
Start Up
Initiation
Management Stages
Closure

Target Date
Winter ‘20/’21
Winter ‘20/‘21
Spring ’21 – Spring ‘22
Spring ‘22

BHH Public Art further public features flowing from the
Vision. Delivery to be phased.
Start Up
Initiation
Management Stages
Closure

Target Date
April ‘22
Summer- Autumn ‘22
Spring ’22 –‘25
Winter ‘25

7

35

Eastleigh Borough Council
Project Initiation Document

2.7.3.

Dependencies

Inbound


Due to time pressures on funding the development of the Pubic Art Vision will need to run in tandem with
phase 1, which will need to take account of the emerging vision.



Ability to successfully commission an Artist



Subsequent ability of the Artist to ensure the Concepts, Detailed Drawings, Fabrication and Installation are
of an acceptable standard



The appointed Artist may hire a sub-contractor and if so the project will be dependent on such persons
undertaking their responsibilities to a suitable standard



Timescales may slip or be missed by the Artist and / or be delayed by unforeseen events such as Covid-19



Political support from the relevant Parish Councils



Receipt of suitable tender responses from artists.



Timely collection of s106 contributions



Stakeholder support for the scheme

Outbound


All delivery will rely on collaborative working between internal and external stakeholders.



Failure to adhere to the budget particularly if there are problems with fabrication or installation



Availability of Steering Group members and LAC



Contracts to be agreed with new suppliers, to design, fabricate and deliver the artworks

2.7.4.

Interfaces to other projects

The projects may link in the future to similar public art aspirations for Boorley Park and Boorley Gardens and, the
current Hedge End Green Routes public art project (Project ID 10027).

2.7.5.

Planning Considerations (delete if not applicable)

It is unlikely that planning permission would be required for the works as they will generally take place in the highway
and are likely to be classed as works the Council may undertake as permitted development. Nevertheless, each
wayfinding trail will be assessed to confirm that planning permission is not required.
It is anticipated that Highways licences and agreements with third party land owners such as network rail and the
Parish Councils may also be required to site works within the public highway and on privately owned land.

2.8.

Assumptions

It is assumed that:

8

36

Eastleigh Borough Council
Project Initiation Document


The LAC will support the project and provide the necessary resources



Lead Artists will be successfully commissioned and successfully fulfil the requirements of their contract within
the specified timescales



Officer resource will remain sufficient to deliver the project



Covid-19 or other unforeseen events (not identified through the risk assessment process) will not have a
significant impact on project timescales and delivery

3.

Business Case
3.1.

Initial Business Case

The Council has a duty to spend its Public Art s106 developer contributions, failure to do so may result in clawback
from the developer. In addition, should the project not go ahead, the following opportunities will be missed:


Improvements to wayfinding for residents, workers and visitors



Delivery of public realm enhancements and evidence of investment in streets and spaces



Knock-on benefits to the wider local economy flowing from the above



Opportunities to support delivery of the aims of the Corporate Plan

The BHH Public Art Vision will have a significant benefit for the BHH local area, and is considered to be essential to
support delivery of projects in the area, and ensure that public art is delivered cohesively across the peninsular.
£200,000 - £240,000 of public art S106 is available within the BHH area which will fund the delivery of the public art
vision and further projects in later phases. With a clear vision in place, it will be possible to commission the delivery of
works and establish maintenance funds.

Phase 1 – BHH History and Heritage Wayfinding Trail
This phase is already fully funded and has a total budget of £85,000. An award of £65,000 was secured on 19
February 2020 from the South Western Railway Customer and Communities Improvement Fund, this funding expires
in March 2022. In addition, £20,000, of match funding was allocated by BHH LAC in September 2020 from S106
contributions.
The Phase 1 work will act as the catalyst for a number of further public art interventions within the local area.
Collectively, these will deliver significant and prominent public realm interventions and have a major positive impact
for all those living in or visiting the area.

How the Project contributes to the Council’s Strategic Priorities:
See Section 2.2 above.

9

37

Eastleigh Borough Council
Project Initiation Document

3.2. Benefits
Benefits the project
intends to achieve

Benefit
Owner

How will the
Benefit be
measured

Baseline: Where are
we now

Target

Benefit
Delivery
Date

Comprehensive, overarching
approach to public art in BHH
giving certainty to the
community and developers

BHH LAC,
Delivery of
Parish
BHH Public Art
Councils
Vision
and
community

Idea for the Vision
raised with LAC and
PIM approved.
Corporate Plan, 4
themed strategies,
Public Art Strategy,
CCIF bid
documentation,
sources of knowledge
of local history and
heritage

Publication
of Vision

Winter
2021/22

Improved public realm

BHH LAC,
Parish
Councils
and wider
community

Audit of before
and after
conditions.
Public
consultation
and evaluation.
Healthy Streets
assessment.

Poor legibility and
poor quality public
realm art, from and to
rail stations from key
destinations

Public Art
From
wayfinding
Spring 2022
interventions
installed

Contribution to delivery of
the three main Corporate
Objectives – Green Borough,
Healthy Communities and
Prosperous Place

EBC, BHH
LAC, Parish
Councils
and wider
community

Audit of before
and after
conditions.
Public
consultation
and evaluation.
Healthy Streets
assessment.

Poor legibility and
poor-quality public
realm art, from and to
rail stations from key
destinations

Public Art
From
wayfinding
Spring 2022
interventions
installed

Delivery of interventions to
address the specific BHH
issues identified in the
Corporate Strategy such as
tackling local congestion,
addressing health inequalities
and improving open spaces
and neighbourhoods

EBC, BHH
Audit of before
LAC Parish and after
Councils,
conditions
and wider
community

Poor legibility and
poor-quality public
realm at, from and to
rail stations from key
destinations

Public Art
From
wayfinding
Spring 2022
interventions
installed

10

38

Eastleigh Borough Council
Project Initiation Document

3.3. Budget
BHH Public Art Vision Budget
Items

Cost Estimate

Funding Source

Notes

Total Budget

£200,000 to £240,000

S106 – Allocation of this
funding is subject to LAC
decision in March 2021

Funding for phase 1
History and Heritage
Wayfinding Trail has been
funded separately.

From which:
Production of the Vision document
£10,000-£20,000
S106 – Subject to LAC
from draft to completion.
decision
BHH Public Art projects identified
£190,000-£220,000
S106 – Subject to LAC
from the Vision
decision
Each project will be allocated a budget that will be commensurate with its particular scope of works and project
deliverables. This budget will be allocated (approx.) as follows:

Project Management (U&LDT) 10%
Project Contingency 10%
Artist’s Commission 70%
Comms budget
Tbc
Ongoing Maintenance

s106
“
“
“

10% of each works
budget.

“

Total Project Spend £tbc
 NOTES:


A Comms budget may not be required for all projects. Where deemed necessary an appropriate
budget will be agreed with Comms at the project outset.



The overall Budget (£200,000-£240,000) will continue to be “topped up” by future Developer
Contributions at the discretion of the LAC. Should it run out, the LAC can continue to plan future
projects to feed into workstreams.

Ongoing (revenue) costs
Budget Item

Cost
Estimate

Funding
Source

Notes

Ongoing Maintenance will be budgeted within each project, see above.
TBC

Total Ongoing Costs

Phase 1 - BHH History and Heritage
Budget Items

Cost
Estimate

Total Budget

£85,000

Funding Source

Notes

£20,000 S106 contribution &
£65,000 CCIF grant

From which:

11

39

Eastleigh Borough Council
Project Initiation Document
Project Management (U&LDT)
Project Contingency
Artist’s Commission
Ongoing Maintenance
Comms budget

£8,500
£8,500
£59,500 TBC
10% of Artist’s
commission
Tbc

“
“
“
“

-

Total Project Spend £85,000
 NOTE: The Ongoing Maintenance budget is a ringfenced sum that will be set aside for maintenance
and decommissioning purposes.
Ongoing (revenue) costs .
Budget Item

Cost
Estimate

Ongoing Maintenance will be budgeted within the project, see
above.

TBC

Total Ongoing Costs

TBC

Funding
Source

Notes

S106

3.4. Council Priorities
This project will build towards achievement of the following Council Strategic priorities.
(Click here for an explanation of our Strategic Priorities)
See Section 2.2 above.

12

40

Eastleigh Borough Council
Project Initiation Document
4.

IT Prioritisation

This section is designed for IT projects, to help prioritise their ranking within the IT workplan. An adapted version for use with other forms of
projects is in development – please speak to the PMO for more information.
Please score each element for your project below and provide a reason for each. The bracketed numbers indicate the maximum potential score
for each section, so please allocate a score accordingly.
Project
Name

Customer
Impact

Non-Cashable
Impact (always
FTE)

Potential £ Savings
(Capital and
Revenue)

(15)

(10)

Score

Description

(10)

n/a, this
is not an
IT
project

Implementation and
Running Cost £
(Capital and
Revenue)
(-10)

IT Input

Risks if
not
done

(15)
(20)

Critical
Timescale

Political
Ambition

(10)

(100)

Score
(total)

41

Eastleigh Borough Council
Project Initiation Document
5.

Project Organisation
5.1. Project Organisation Structure
Officer Name & Service Unit

Project Board Roles
Project Sponsor
Senior Supplier(s)
Senior User (who will own the end
product once project has been
delivered)
Specialists (Legal, Finance,
Planning, Asset etc.)
Project Manager
Project oversight and support
Liaison with SW Trains stakeholder

Ross McClean: LAM
Lead Artist tbc
BHH local area committee

Estimated no.
hours required
(per month)
7.5
1

Tbc

15 (collectively)

Aliis Kodis: Housing & Development

5-37 (varies by
project phase)
5

Mark Ellison; Housing &
Development
Cali Sparks: Environment

0.5

Member
Project Team Roles
Sustainable transport advice

Cllr David Airey

7

Cali Sparks: Environment

4

Planning
Finance
Comms
IT
Audit

Unlikely to be required
tbc
tbc
tbc
-

5.2.
Role

Role Profiles
Role Profile

Project Sponsor

Project Board
Project Sponsor
Senior User
Senior Supplier

42

1
1-3
1











Is accountable for the project
Makes the business decisions for the project
Makes user resources available
Approves work products
Approves and signs off the PID to enable the project to start
Provides guidance on issue / change requests
Effective decision making
Commits project resources
Provides overall direction on the project

Confirmed

Eastleigh Borough Council
Project Initiation Document


Project Manager /
Client role (CDM Regs
2015)

Project Team

6.

Approves the Project End Report



Receives or creates the Project Initiation Matrix with information from the
Sponsor
 Creates the PID
 Reports progress to the Project Board
 Directs the Project Team
 Plans and monitors the project plan
 Plans and monitors project budget
 Maintains the Risk, Issue and Change Registers (using the Project Workbook)
 Prepares Highlight Reports
 Prepares Issue / Change Reports as necessary
 Prepares the Project End Report
 Confirms project completion
Delete if n/a:
Further responsibilities for the Project Manager when acting as the ‘Client’ can be
found on the HSE Website.
 Reports to the Project Manager
 Has responsibility for delivering the project and creating or delivery of the
products

Project Plan
6.1. Project Plan
The plan in the project workbook shows how and when activities of the project will occur, what
resources they require and the dependencies between activities. The Project Manager will regularly
review and update the Project Plan to check progress and ensure that the activities are on target.

BHH Public Art Vision
Stage / High Level Tasks/ Milestones
Project PIM approved by BHH LAC
Funding allocated by BHH LAC
Commission Lead Artist
Produce Draft Public Art Vision, to include
Stakeholder Engagement
Discuss with Steering Group and revise
accordingly
Agree Final Version at BHH LAC
Predicted project timescale

Start
Nov 2020
March 2021

Finish
Nov 2020
March 2021

Apr 2021
Jun 2021

May 2021
Sept 2021

Duration
Dependent on committee
1 month- Decision
pending
2 months
4 months

Oct 2021

Nov 2021

2 months

Dec 2021

Dec 2021

2 months
Up to 10 months

15

43

Eastleigh Borough Council
Project Initiation Document
BHH History and Heritage Wayfinding Trail
Stage / High Level Tasks/ Milestones
Start
Project and funding approved by BHH
Dec 2020
LAC
Commission Lead Artist
Apr 2021
MS1: Commencement Stage
June 2021
MS2: Concept Stage
July 2021
MS3: Technical Design Stage
Dec 2021
MS4: Fabrication Stage
Mar 2021
MS5: Installation
Jun 2022
MS6: Project Closure
Jun 2022
Predicted project timescale

Finish
Dec 2020

Duration
Completed

May 2021
June 2021
Nov 2021
Feb 2021
May 2021
Jun 2022
Jun 2022

2 months
1 month
5 months
2 months
3 months
1 month
1 month
Up to 15 months

6.2. Communications Plan
The Communications Plan identifies all the parties with an interest in the project and the means and
frequency of communication between them and the project. This plan should specifically set out how
the Council’s involvement in and support for the project will be promoted and specifically state what
signage and branding will be placed on project facilities and literature. This should be discussed and
agreed with the Corporate Communications team, and costs / budget agreed.
Who

What / How

When

Internal
Community
Programme Board
Steering Group
BHH LAC
Urban & Landscape
Design Team

Update on project status – Highlight
Report
Updates, decision making
Decision making / progress reporting
Team Meeting

Monthly

Updates, feedback and requests for
revisions etc., via email
Articles in Our News, Tweets etc.

Every 2-3 weeks

External
Lead Artist
The Public

Monthly / as required
Quarterly
Fortnightly

As milestones are achieved and to
promote community engagement

Include information on ensuring all persons involved cooperate and coordinate with each other
including adjacent sites.
Please note, if a communications campaign is required, then an appropriate budget should be allocated
to fund it. Engagement with Comms to understand cost and requirements should happen at an early
stage

44

16

Eastleigh Borough Council
Project Initiation Document
6.3. Procurement
In this section, the procurement approach should be detailed, including any information about the
tender process, types of contract, and how the Contract Standard Orders are being complied with.
The Commissioning process has yet to be agreed.
An Agreement will need to be signed by the Lead Artist and, on behalf of EBC. There is a standard
Agreement for this.
6.4. Branding Plan
All projects, facilities or services which are owned, operated or supported by the council should have
clearly branded signage, in accordance with the council’s Corporate Design Guidelines. The cost of this
should be included within the project costs. Include details of the signage that will be provided,
together with an example of the design. The Strategy Communications and Marketing Team will be
happy to help and advise on signage and cost.
Note – signage may require separate planning permissions – check on this and plan accordingly.
The Vision document will have suitable branding. It will probably not be appropriate for the public art
interventions to have council branding, but this will be reviewed at detailed design stage.
7.

Project Controls
This section will detail how the project will be managed and controlled (example below)






7.1.

The Project Team and Steering Group will meet every 4-6weeks to discuss project progress
A monthly Highlight Report will be completed for the Community Projects Board and PMO
The project workbook will be completed and monitored throughout the project (this includes
the project plan, risk, issues and dependencies.)
Project tolerances will be followed as documented in section 7.1
Budget actuals and forecasts produced for each financial period
Exceptions to be escalated to steering group
Tolerances

A two month time tolerance will apply to take account of unforeseen events. There will be financial
flexibility between different work streams, but not for the overall project.
7.2.

Method of approach



Project Management in accordance with EBC protocols



Commission Lead Artist



Steering Group to have an advisory role. The BHH LAC will retain decision making authority

7.3.

Exception Process
17

45

Eastleigh Borough Council
Project Initiation Document
The Project Manager will frequently review and report on project progress. If the Project Manager feels
that any of the tolerances agreed for the project are likely to be exceeded they will report the matter
to the Programme Board / Project Board / Sponsor by means of a Project Exception Report. This will
provide analysis, options and a recommendation for the way forward for discussion by the Programme
Board / Project Board / Sponsor.
7.4. Initial Risk Log and Mitigations
A risk log template is held within the Project Workbook. It contains a risk analysis for all known risks
associated with the project and any of its dependencies. It includes mitigations and / or contingency
plans. The Project Manager will actively manage the risks by regularly reviewing and updating the Risk
Log. Reviewing the risk log should be a regular part of the Board agenda, to ensure the Board are
aware of the steps being taken and/or the risk level being tolerated.
 A Project Workbook has not yet been prepared. Once this is done, the PID can be updated accordingly.

8.

IT and Data Security
Data will be collected electronically and via online or paper forms. It will be used to:
 Take a picture or video of an individual and/or their children attending a public engagement
event
 Confirm an individual’s consent for a still photograph or video to be taken of themselves
and/or their children with the understanding this image may be used on the Council’s
website or for other publicity of the project.
 Collate an individual’s opinions on the project either answering set questions or providing
general feedback
Completed consent forms and feedback questionnaires will be held securely on the EBC server / at
Eastleigh House as appropriate.
All the personal information collected will be kept until the project or projects in which the
individual is interested is completed, at which point it will be destroyed. In addition, an individual
may request that they/their children are no longer contacted about the project/s and/or that their
image is no longer used (opt-out) at which point their details will be destroyed.

9.

Training
Some further PM / Finance training may be necessary, this will be internally generated.

10.

Equality / Diversity
See associated Equality Impact Assessment.

11.

46

Data Protection (applies to all projects)
18

Eastleigh Borough Council
Project Initiation Document
Confirm Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) Stage 1 has been completed and sent to the data
protection officer at dp@eastleigh.gov.uk
Full DPIA required?

Yes

No

If yes, please send completed full DPIA to DPO at dp@eastleigh.gov.uk
12.

Construction Information (delete if n/a, only applies to projects involving construction)
n/a

12.1. CDM 2015
Note: Delete if n/a. Only applies to projects involving construction
Is the Project Notifiable?

Highly Unlikely

A project is notifiable if the construction work on a construction site is scheduled to:
a) Last longer than 30 days AND have more than 20 workers working simultaneously at any
point in the project
OR
b) Exceeds 500 person days
Notify to the Health and Safety Executive? Yes

No

Complete a F10 Notification found one the HSE website
12.2. Health and Safety File (delete if n/a, only applies to projects involving construction)
Confirm Health and Safety File has been prepared and retained by the Client at the completion
of the project
13.

Incorporating Lessons Learned



Projects that include commemorative artworks need to be approached with care, with full
background checks undertaken on the proposed subjects to ensure there are no links to slavery,
colonialism or extremist groups. This issue has arisen with the West End Heritage Markers project
(Project ID: 10026) and is now causing significant delay to the delivery of that project.



Ongoing maintenance costs and communication?

19

47

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
BURSLEDON, HAMBLE-LE-RICE AND HOUND LOCAL AREA
COMMITTEE
Wednesday, 24 March 2021
TRAFFIC REGULATION ORDER AT BEACH LANE NETLEY
Report of the Traffic Management Engineer

Recommendation(s)
It is recommended that
(1)

A Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) is made, the effects of which are to introduce
waiting and parking restrictions in Beach Lane, as advertised on 12 February 2021.

Summary
A proposal to introduce waiting and parking restrictions in Beach Lane was advertised on
12 February 2021. Seven representations were received, six of which objected to the
proposals. This report summarises the comments received and recommends how to
proceed.
Statutory Powers
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984; Traffic Management Act 2004.
Legal Agreements
Agency Agreement between Hampshire County Council and Eastleigh Borough Council
dated 10 September 2019.

Strategic Implications
1.

Creating an excellent environment for all by introducing waiting and parking
restrictions in Beach Lane to improve the amenity by providing time-limited
parking spaces to enable visitors to access the beach, the adjacent recreation
ground and other local facilities.

Introduction
2.

Beach Lane in Netley has been investigated in response to reports of
obstructive parking. Site investigations were undertaken to assess the issues

49

being experienced by road users, and to decide on appropriate measures to
mitigate those issues. The proposed restrictions are shown in Appendix 1.
3.

This report details the comments received during the public consultation
period. The Committee is asked to consider the comments received, before
deciding whether to introduce, amend or withdraw the Traffic Regulation
Order.

Consultation comments and responses
4.

Consultation was undertaken by means of a Public Notice on the Eastleigh
Borough Council website, published in the Hampshire Independent
newspaper, and posted on street furniture in the vicinity of the proposed
restrictions. The Public Notice was also posted to properties directly affected
by the proposals. The consultation started on 12 February 2021, with a
closing date for receipt of representations of 5 March 2021.

5.

The points raised in the representations are summarised below, along with the
Engineer’s response. The full (redacted) text of the representations can be
found in Appendix 2.

a)

Comment

Engineer’s response

Four residents request that the
double yellow lines opposite
their shared driveway (serving
Mariners, Halyards, Chandlers
and Seacrest) are retained, and
one requests additional double
yellow lines opposite the private
entrance further west along
Beach Lane

It is clear that the obstruction to the
driveway serving the properties
Mariners, Halyards, Chandlers and
Seacrest in the past has been due to
vehicles being parked at
approximately 90 degrees to the
kerb. The current proposal is to
introduce parallel parking (2.5
metres wide) from 12 metres west of
Victoria Road westwards and to
change this to echelon parking
where the road widens out west of
the driveway in question. This
leaves a running carriageway of
approximately 4.5 metres, which is
ample to accommodate a single lane
of traffic. The driveway itself is 3.5
metres wide, (which is 1.10 metres
wider than the recommended
minimum). The distance from the
gate at the back of the footway to the
outer edge of the proposed parking
bay is 6.0 metres; this is the
standard dimension for turning into
or out of a parking space or
driveway. The dimensions are

Vehicles parked opposite the
driveway obstruct access to and
from the driveway, including for
a car towing a trailer.
Parking may be easier if bays
are rectangle and straight along
the north side rather than
diagonal

50

Eastleigh Borough Council

shown on the drawing in Appendix 1
The double yellow line marking on
the road opposite the driveway
serving the properties Mariners,
Halyards, Chandlers and Seacrest
appears to be unlawful; it is likely to
have been installed by the
developer, but there is no evidence
that the proper procedure has been
followed.
There is already a “no waiting at any
time” restriction on the turning head
at the western end of the road. A
box junction marking would be
inappropriate in this location, and
other “hatched” markings are not
lawful on the public highway.
b)

One objector is concerned that
the consequence of cars parking
in the turning circle mean that
cars need to reverse up Beach
Lane. Also, people park on the
slipway area preventing
boats/canoes/windsurfers from
launching/recovery
The access to the public slipway
will also be far harder to get
vehicles with watercraft on
trailers past.

The turning head is covered by a “no
waiting at any time” restriction. The
proposed restrictions allow sufficient
carriageway space for vehicles
towing boats on trailers to access the
slipway. Any vehicle or vehicle
combination wider than 3.05 metres
constitutes an abnormal load and
may not be moved on the public
highway without the permission of
the Highway Authority. In the event
of an abnormal load requiring access
to the shore, prior arrangements can
be made to suspend the parking bay.
Examination of the slipway shows
that it has broken up at the high tide
line, and in its current state is likely
to be unsuitable for boats to be
launched from trailers.
Dealing with parking on the slipway
itself is unfortunately not something
that we are able to consider.

c)

One objector has concerns
about not having enough
resources to enforce the limited
waiting parking spaces and
states that there are bigger

Waiting and parking restrictions are
enforced by Eastleigh Borough
Council Civil Enforcement Officers.
Additional enforcement can be
requested by contacting Parking

Eastleigh Borough Council

51

issues of parking in Netley.

Services.
Requests for investigation into
parking issues can be made to the
Traffic and Engineering team, and
will be prioritised against other
requests in the Local Area using a
prioritisation scoring matrix.

d)

52

One objector agrees with the
principle of introducing time
limited parking in Beach Lane to
increase the number of visitors
who can enjoy the wonderful
facilities. However, the busiest
day for parking is usually
Sundays, so I do not agree that
there is any logic to removing
restrictions on a Sunday

The request for an extension of the
time limited parking place to include
Sundays has been noted and will be
considered as a future prospective
proposal.
In any case given the problems
being experienced by residents, it is
recommended that the current road
markings are removed and parking
bays are marked out as detailed in
the Engineer’s comments to point a)

e)

One resident states that the
This request will be forwarded to the
existing road markings have
Streetscene team for action as
become meaningless, partly due appropriate.
to deterioration of the paint of
the markings but primarily
because of their regular
obliteration by pine needles. if
new regulations are approved
and are to be enforced,
consideration must be given to
more regular road
sweeping/clearing to ensure that
the markings are clear and
enforceable

f)

A letter of objection has been
received from Hound Parish
Council who stated the scheme
is not required and would add
nothing to the viability of the
shops in Victoria Road if parking
is taken away in Beach Lane.

There is no proposal to remove
parking places in Beach Lane; the
proposal is to regulate the geometry
of the parking spaces and introduce
a time limit on parking during the day
on Mondays to Saturdays. The time
limited parking place may benefit
people visiting shops or residents in
the area, as well as those accessing
the beach and recreation ground.

Eastleigh Borough Council

g)

Councillor Airey expressed
concerns that the proposals will
not address the problem of
obstruction to the shared
driveway serving Mariners,
Halyards, Chandlers and
Seacrest.

This is addressed in the Engineer’s
comments to point a)

Financial Implications
6.

The cost of the TRO is funded through S106 Developer’s Contribution; the
estimated cost is £4,000.

Risk Assessment
7.

If the proposals are not implemented, it is likely that the issues with
obstructive parking will continue, and the available parking spaces may be
occupied for lengthy periods of time, which may have an impact on the
availability of short stay parking in the vicinity

Equality and Diversity Implications
The Equality Act is relevant to the decision and an Equality Impact
Assessment (EqIA) has been carried out and attached as Appendix 3 to the
report. In summary the EqIA shows that:


8.

The waiting restrictions will assist in improving access for pedestrians,
including wheelchair users and pushchairs, by eliminating the need for
vehicles to drive over the footway owing to obstructive and
inconsiderate parking.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications
The proposals would not increase Greenhouse Gas/CO2, or damage ecology
or the environment. The scheme may assist in encouraging residents to
access the beach, the adjacent recreation ground and other local facilities.

Conclusion
9.

The proposals have due regard to the requirement of S122 of the Road Traffic
Regulation Act, by securing the expeditious, convenient and safe movement
of vehicular and other traffic (including pedestrians) and the provision of
suitable and adequate parking facilities on the highway. The proposed waiting
restrictions attracted objections and comments. This report takes into
consideration all the representations received and recommends that the
committee approves the introduction of the restrictions as advertised

Eastleigh Borough Council

53

BARBARA THOMAS
TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT ENGINEER
5 MARCH 2021
CONTACT OFFICER:
BARBARA THOMAS
Tel No:
x 8231
e-mail:
barbara.thomas@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached:
3
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D
The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.
None

54

Eastleigh Borough Council

KEY
Existing "No Waiting at Anytime"
restrictions
Proposed Parking Place "Mon-Sat
8am-6pm 2 hours, no return within
2 hours"

Status:

Rev:

Description:

Date:

Chkd:

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of Her Majesty's
Stationery Office (C) Crown copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown
copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Licence No. 100019622 (2014)

TRANSPORTATION AND ENGINEERING
ENVIRONMENT SPECIALIST SERVICES
Eastleigh House,
Upper Market Street, Eastleigh,
Hampshire. SO50 9YN
Telephone:(023) 8068 8000
Email:engineers@eastleigh.gov.uk

Environment
Specialist
Services

Scheme:

Title:

Scale @ A4:

55

Drawing No.:

Date:

Drawn by:

Project No.:

Checked by:

Rev:

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2 – Representations

Representation 1 (from resident of Victoria Road)
I write regarding the proposed parking restrictions, My driveway and garage access is on
Beach lane (the double gates on the left hand side.) Prior to the submission of this new
Traffic Order we have been in regular communication with Tom Dunn – Parking Operations
Team Leader for Eastleigh council (prior to his departure in Oct 2020). I am happy to forward
all communications where he was sympathetic with cars parking on double yellow lines
opposite our entrance. On many occasions this would prevent entry into our property. I have
a trailer which I store in my garage, I regularly use this and it is IMPOSSIBLE to enter/depart
the garages with the trailer if their are cars parked opposite/within the turning circle of gates.
If any of the Eastleigh/Hound council would like to see this I am happy to demonstrate at any
time as the trailer is permanently stored in my garage. Even with a standard car if cars are
parked opposite it is incredibly difficult to access the driveway with cars parked on what are
currently double yellow lines. Last year Tom Dunn even went to the trouble of arranging
traffic enforcement cones to be placed on all double yellow lines to prevent people from
parking (where they shouldn't anyway) as it was preventing our access of which we were
very grateful for his intervention. Tom's parting words in an email in Oct 20 was below "The
issue of these lines (visibility) has been passed over to our Traffic & Engineering Team to
have them considered for a refresh". Ironically it looks as if his request to enforce the
double yellow lines has been misinterpreted and the absolute opposite of his
recommendation is being proposed in this Traffic order. Richard Nolan and Paul Nicholls of
Eastleigh borough council were copied on this email sent from Tom on the 7th Oct 2020
(09.53). We also discussed the need for a hatched area in the turning circle and boat launch
area at the bottom of beach lane, all of which on summer days get incredibly busy and
where people ignore the current double yellow lines. The consequence of 2 14/02/2021 (cars
parking in the turning circle) mean cars need to reverse up Beach lane (already narrow due
to the current angle of the parking spaces) and risk any families walking down the lane. Also
people park on the slipway area itself preventing boats/canoes/windsurfers from
launching/recovery causing many hours of delay to people trying to access the water. A
Hatched area on both would prevent both these problems as currently double yellow lines
are ignored. Simply put, installing additional parking opposite the driveway will prohibit our
access. thank you for your consideration.
Representation 2 (from resident of Beach Lane)
I strongly object to this proposed parking restriction as laid out in THE BOROUGH OF
EASTLEIGH (BURSLEDON, HAMBLE-LE-RICE AND HOUND) (AMENDMENT NO 11)
ORDER 2021 This is due to the safe and reasonable access and egress of the driveway to
Mariners, Chandlers, Halyards and Seacrest. We have previously bought this up with David
Airey and Richard Nolan last year when parking was a disgrace down Beach Lane. This
resulted in a temporary suspension of parking on the lane which has now reopened to just
the marked bays. As residents we regularly have to ask people to not park on the double
yellow lines. We even ensure they are swept and visible to the best that can be. They are in
dire need of repainting. We struggle significantly to enter and exit our driveway due to other
cars parking outside of marked bays. With the addition of the proposal, it will invite more cars
down a very narrow lane of which parking is very limited. The access to the public slipway
will also be far harder to get vehicles with watercraft on trailers past. The access and egress
areas of the driveways would benefit from hatched areas marked on the road with the
addition of a large hatched area in the turning circle at the lower part of the lane for access
to the public slipway. Pedestrians will also struggle as the lane doesn’t have a pavement the

57

whole way down so will have more difficulty with moving vehicles. I look forward to hearing
your response
Representation 3 (from resident of Waverley Avenue)
A complete waste of time setting up a 2 hr parking space. When EBC does not have the
man power to enforce. Where and who is driving this crazy Idea! There are bigger issues of
parking in Netley to concentrate on.... This doesn't impact all but 3 houses. Spend time and
resources fixing issues not creating more!
Representation 4 (from resident of Beach Lane)
Double yellow lines are needed opposite the two private entrances
A grid of double yellows should be painted at the bottom of the lane so people can turn
around and people do not just park there as there is more space
Personally we do not see the 2 hour restriction as necessary but accept the access is there
for everyone
Parking may be easier if bays are rectangle and straight along the north side rather than
diagonal as we are often required to drive down the pavement when a larger vehicle parks in
one of the diagonal spaces (hope that make sense!) and means access in and out of our
drives is easier
Representation 5 (from resident of Victoria Road)
1. I OBJECT to the current plans as they fail to take into account access to residents’
off-road parking part-way down Beach Lane.
2. I believe that the map provided to illustrate the plans is INACCURATE as it fails to
show the existing no-waiting/parking (double yellow lines) currently in force. This
short stretch of double yellow lines, part way down Beach Lane, protects access to
the residents’ off-road parking for four dwellings (Mariners Chandlers, Seacrest &
Halyards, also known as 1 & 2 Beach Lane).
3. At busy times, especially summer 2020, parking along these double yellow lines
meant that accessing the residents’ off-road parking became impossible for even
single cars. Some residents use vans for essential keyworker maintenance roles, and
others use a trailer for leisure – these longer vehicles were trapped by illegal parking
ignoring these double yellow lines.
4. When the 4 houses were built in 2008-09, I assume it was a planning requirement to
include sufficient off-road parking to avoid use of the limited on-road parking in Beach
Lane/ Victoria Road. Currently between 8 and 10 vehicles use the residents’ off-road
parking. If the proposed changes go ahead without retaining the current double
yellow lines, concerns about being trapped inside would have the unintended effect
of residents choosing to use unrestricted on-road parking, exacerbating the
availability of parking for visitors.
5. Diagonal parking, which is currently encouraged by the use of white lines at wider
parts of Beach Lane, if continued all along Beach Lane, makes access to the sewage
pumping station or access by coastguard or other emergency vehicles impossible.
This is a serious safety issue which must be addressed by any changes to parking
regulations.

58

6. Parking in the narrowest part of Beach Lane, (where the existing double yellow lines
are) even if parallel to the edge, means that cars mount the pavement to pass, which
is dangerous to the number of pedestrians who use Beach Lane to access the
footpaths. Indeed Beach Lane is a designated portion of the Solent Way long
distance path so walkers must be considered alongside car users.
7. I AGREE with the principle of introducing time limited parking in Beach Lane to
increase the number of visitors who can enjoy the wonderful facilities. However, the
busiest day for parking is usually Sundays, so I do not agree that there is any logic to
removing restrictions on a Sunday.
8. I am CONCERNED that without regular, consistent monitoring by parking attendants,
this new amendment will be meaningless. Therefore in practice, a 2-hour limit would
be an extremely expensive use of council-tax to enforce.
9. Finally, the existing road markings have become meaningless, partly due to
deterioration of the paint of the markings but primarily because of their regular
obliteration by pine needles. The Scots Pines that line Beach Line are a much-loved,
iconic part of Netley but they shed massive amounts of needles throughout the year.
As residents we regularly move them to avoid drain blockages but if new regulations
are approved and are to be enforced, consideration must be given to more regular
road sweeping/clearing to ensure that the markings are clear and enforceable.
Representation 6
This item was discussed at Hound Parish Council's last Planning Committee meeting and
HPC Members voted to object to the TRO on Beach Lane. It was agreed it was not required
and would add nothing to the viability of the shops in Victoria Road if parking is taken away
in Beach Lane. Also, that it is lacking justification and will be difficult to enforce.

Representation 7
The problem is that the proposals do not solve the main problem. There needs to be a
parking ban opposite the entrance to the Beach Lane properties. The secondary problem of
long stay parking will be resolved by the proposals.

59

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA)

Title of EqIA:

Brief description of
the Proposal:

The Borough of Eastleigh (Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice and
Hound) (Amendment no 11) Order 2021

The effect of the proposal is to introduce time-limited
parking restrictions in Beach Lane

Assessment:
For all of categories below please consider:
1. Does this proposal eliminate unlawful discrimination?
2. Does this proposal advance equality of opportunity between people who share
a protected characteristic and those who do not share it?
3. Does this proposal foster good relations between people who share a
protected characteristic and those who do not share it?

Statutory Considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on people with
protected characteristics.

Age:

None

Disability:

These measures create more road space for moving traffic
which removes the need for vehicles to mount the footway
to drive around parking vehicles. Therefore, pedestrians
using the footway will be less likely to be inconvenienced by
traffic.

Gender:

None

Gender reassignment:

None

Pregnancy and
Maternity:

By re-arranging the parking bays there will be more space
for moving traffic and vehicles will be less likely to mount

61

the footway. There may therefore be some benefits for
pregnant women and pushchair users using the footway,
who will be less likely to be inconvenienced by traffic.

Race:

None

Religion or belief:

None

Sexual Orientation:

None

Marriage and civil
partnership:

None

Non statutory considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on people
experiencing social deprivation.

Social deprivation:

None

What engagement or
consultation has been
carried out?

Statutory public notice in local press and on street,
letterdrop to households directly affected by proposals

What could reduce any
adverse impact on
these groups?

N/A

Action Plan

Activity

62

Outcome

Timeframe

Person responsible

Lead Officer:

Barbara Thomas

Manager:

Paul Naylor

Corporate Director:

Andy Trayer

Date completed:

16 March 2021

63

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
BHH – Bursledon, Hamble and Hound Local Area Committee Wednesday 24
March 2021.
Application Number:
Case Officer:
Received Date:
Site Address:
Applicant:
Proposal:

Recommendation:

F/20/89483
Clare Martin
Friday 18 December 2020
MOLE COTTAGE, HIGH STREET, BURSLEDON,
SOUTHAMPTON, SO31 8DL
Tony Brooks
Construction of 1no. detached bungalow to replace existing
dwelling and repairing and extending the front boundary wall
at the site entrance with new gates, bin/ cycle storage and
associated landscaping.
PERMIT

CONDITIONS AND REASONS
1

The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with
the following plans numbered: 001 REV A, 002 REV A, 100 REV A, 110 REV A,
111 REV A, 200 REV D, 201 REV D, 205 REV B, 206 REV C, 210 REV A, 211
REV A, 213 REV C, 214 REV C, 215 REV C, 216 REV C, 300 REV B, 301 Rev
B, 302 REV B, 303 REV B, 304 REV B, 310 REV B, 311 REV A, 400 REV B,
401 REV B, 11439_2020-12-02 V1.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2

The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from the
date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.

3

No excavation, demolition or development related works shall take place on site
until a scaled and referenced tree protection plan, as per British Standard
5837:2012 (Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction –
Recommendations), is submitted to and approved by the LPA and installed on
the site. The approved tree protection plan must be adhered to in full and
retained for the duration of the works. The approved tree protection plan may
only be modified subject to written agreement from the LPA.
Reason: to retain and protect the existing trees which form an important part of
the amenity of the locality.

4

No development above dpc level shall start until details of the materials to be
used in the construction of the external surfaces of the dwelling hereby
permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance in the interest of the
amenities of the conservation area.

5

No development above dpc level shall start until a landscaping scheme

65

(covering planting and hard surfacing) has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. All hard surfacing shall be constructed
of porous materials. The approved landscaping scheme shall be completed to
the appropriate British Standard before the end of the first planting season
following occupation of the dwelling.
Reason: In the interests of biodiversity and the visual amenity of the locality.
6

The dwelling hereby approved shall not be occupied until as built stage SAP
data and as built stage water calculator confirming energy efficiency and the
predicted internal mains water consumption to achieve the following has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: In respect
of energy efficiency, a standard of a 19% improvement of dwelling emission
rate over the target emission rate as set in the 2013 Building Regulations In
respect of water consumption, a maximum predicted internal mains water
consumption of 105 litres/person/day. The development shall not be carried out
otherwise than in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To support a comprehensive approach to high quality design across
the site; in line with the guidance set out in the Government's Ministerial
Statement of 25 March 2015 which states that Local Planning Authorities
should, from the date of its publication, take into account the government's
intentions in the statement [and not set conditions with requirements above a
Code level 4 equivalent

7

The development shall accord with the Ecological Survey Results Report
(Phase I & II) by Ecosupport dated 2nd June 2020, and all requirements,
mitigation and ecological enhancement outlined within the report shall be
installed on the site by the end of the first planting season following completion
of the development, unless otherwise stated within the report.
Reasons: In the interests of Ecology.

8

The bricks and mortar used in the approved boundary wall shall match in type,
colour, texture and brick bond those materials present in the existing boundary
wall.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual relationship between the new
development and the existing.

9

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning [General
Permitted Development] Order 2015 [or any order revoking and re-enacting that
Order with or without modification], no development permitted by Classes A, B
& E of Part 2 of Schedule 2 of the order shall be carried out without the prior
written consent of The Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To protect the setting of the adjoining grade II listed buildings and
preserve the character of Old Bursledon Conservation Area.
Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning
Policy Framework (February 2019), Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive
approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever
possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a
timely manner.

66

Report:
This application has been referred to Committee by Cllr Holes, Cllr Airey and
Cllr Cross

Planning History and Proposal
1. The current proposal is the third planning application submitted to
replace the existing dwelling on the site. The first application proposed a
two storey Georgian style house, which scale and design was
considered to be too much for the site and locality and the application
was subsequently withdrawn.
2. The second application was for a chalet bungalow, which was refused due
to its mediocre design and substantial massing detracting from the locality
as well as unacceptably impacting on the outlook of Yew Tree Cottage.
The application was ultimately dismissed at appeal with the Planning
Inspector largely supporting the Council’s reasons for refusal.
3. The current proposal has been scaled down from the previous
submissions to a single storey dwelling and includes a lower section on
its eastern side that is sunk into the ground. The design consists of two
gable ends connected by a smaller central section and positioned in a u
shape around a rear courtyard. The proposal incorporates a number of
sustainable technologies, such as a green roof, rainwater harvesting
pond and habitat garden.
4. At the front of the site, the proposal will repair and partly extend the
boundary wall at the site entrance to create more of a feature. In
addition, the area in front of the dwelling is remodelled with a curved
driveway, parking area, cycle/ bin storage and new landscaping. The
proposal will also remove the existing double garage next to the front
boundary.
Relevant Planning History
5. C/19/86487 - Demolition of the existing dwelling and construction of a new
family home – WITHDRAWN (October 2019)
6. C/20/87290 – Construction of 1no. detached chalet dwelling to replace
existing bungalow with new boundary wall and gate at entrance and
associated landscaping. – REFUSED (June 2020) & DISMISSED AT
APPEAL (October 2020)

67

Site Characteristics and Character of the Locality
7. The existing property is a modest timber framed bungalow that sits towards
the front of a generous plot, where it is mostly screened behind a high
boundary wall and vegetation. The High Street offers a few glimpses of the
bungalow, most notably at the site entrance and more distant views up the
driveway of the neighbouring grade II Listed Yew Tree Cottage. The
existing bungalow has limited visual impact as its simple, low, roofline
blends into the background of trees and vegetation visible over the front
boundary wall running along the site and continuing along the front of
Greyladyes Cottage.
8. The site lies within zone 7 of the Old Bursledon Conservation Area, was
the historical centre of the village and contains a considerable number of
listed buildings, including Yew Tree Cottage and Rosewood to the east
of the site.
Representations Received
9. One letter from the residents of Rosewood, commenting that the single
storey dwelling is of high quality and agreeing with the comments of the
Urban Design Officer & Design Review Panel in relation to making the
dwelling more visible.
10. One letter of objection from the residents of Yew Tree Cottage, which is
summarised as follows:
 Consideration should be given to repairing the existing dwelling.
 Modern design of dwelling will detract from Old Bursledon.
 The dwelling’s massing and footprint is excessive and contradicts
conservation area guidelines.
 The width of the dwelling is disproportionate and will diminish
separation gap between dwelling and Yew Tree Cottage.
 Replacement dwelling will be closer to Yew Tree Cottage and will result
in a loss of light and outlook (especially if eastern boundary hedge is
later removed). Photos provided to show impact during different
seasons.
 Dwelling encroaches on setting of Grade II Listed Yew Tree Cottage.
 Position of replacement dwelling and water feature will result in
additional noise disturbance.
 Additional hard surfacing will increase surface water flooding.
 Potential subsidence and impact on underground culverts.
 Not replacing existing outbuildings/ garage so may result in future
planning applications.
 Would like to have been consulted during the pre-application process.
 Delay in sending out the neighbour notification letters left less time for
comments on the planning application.
 Letter draws attention to the parts of the planning statement and design
and access statements the neighbours disagree with.

68



Disagree with agent’s statement that no weight can be afforded to
emerging plan policies, including Policy BU9.

11. The neighbours comments are noted and the material planning
considerations raised are discussed within the assessment section of the
report. The report also covers the weight that can be assigned to the
emerging policies. A response to the remaining points raised is provided at
the end of the committee report.
Consultation Responses
Urban Design Officer and Design Review Panel
No Objection (Amended Plans)
12. The revision to the position of the dwelling on its plot, together with further
details of the intended frontage, landscaping and boundary treatment have
adequately responded to the comments previously raised regarding
providing a better relationship with the public realm.
No Objection (Original Plans)
13. The scheme proposed is a significant improvement over that previously
submitted. The simple form and relatively modest scale of the dwelling is
much more appropriate for the site and its immediate surrounding context,
as are the materials and finishes proposed. Whilst simple in form, various
features picked up from surrounding more historic neighbours have been
used and reinterpreted in a subtle and more contemporary manner to
provide interest and lift the quality of the design.
14. Considering the attractive design of dwelling and the contribution it could
make to the enhancement of the conservation area, it would be a shame to
hide it away behind the extended wall and solid gate proposed. As such,
an alternative roadside boundary treatment and gate design, possibly a low
structure, which would screen the cars, yet allow those in the public realm
to see the front elevation of the dwelling, should be explored.
Built Heritage Consultant – No Objection
15. The design has two, small, linked, elements set well back on this expansive
plot in the manner of most other properties to its west, maintaining the single
storey ethos of the site while reducing its influence on the adjacent listed
heritage asset to the east considerably, including removal of the garage to
enhance it’s setting no end.
16. Clearly a great deal of effort has gone into this submission producing a far
superior solution to the previous applications. The attention to detail of the
brickwork and choice of natural slate for the roof covering will mean a building
of quality with increasing interest as one gets closer.

69

17. The setting of the building is quite in keeping with this part of the High
Street with the added advantages of improved visibility for the entrance
and more importantly an enhanced setting for Yew Tree Cottage. This
design will be an enhancement to this part of the conservation area.
Ecology Officer – No Objection
18. I am satisfied that there are no ecological concerns with this proposal. The
Phase 1 and Phase 2 surveys confirms that the building was not used as a
bat roost. This innovative design for the new dwelling includes a green
roof and a garden design combining rainwater collection and native
plantings to good effect. Consultation response provides advice on
landscaping and dismantling compost heap/ log pile.
Tree Officer – No Objection, subject to tree protection condition.
Parish Council – Objection, proposal is contrary to Policy 179.LB
Old Bursledon Action Group - No Objection
19. While this is a very much approved application it should be noted that:
 This section of the conservation area has the largest concentration of
grade II listed buildings.
 The proposed dwelling almost fills the width of the plot (Policy 8.CO)
 No garage has been provided and we would not wish to see a future
application for a garage.
 Demolition should only be allowed if the existing building is wholly
beyond repair or if its removal or replacement would enhance the
appearance of the area.
Hampshire Garden Trust – No response
The Gardens Trust – No response
Bursledon Rights of Way and Amenities Group – No response
Policy Context and Designations Applicable to Site






Outside Built-up Area Boundary (Countryside)
Within Old Bursledon Conservation Area
Within Old Bursledon Special Policy Area
Within Historic Park and Garden (Greyladyes Park)
Adjacent to Grade II Listed Buildings (Yew Tree Cottage & Rosewood)

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) Saved Policies:


70

1.CO (Countryside uses)











8.CO (Extensions to dwellings in the countryside)
25.NC (Promotion of biodiversity)
34.ES (Energy and climate change)
59.BE (Design criteria)
104.T (Off-highway parking)
169.LB (Conservation areas)
170.LB (Demolition in conservation areas)
177.LB (Historic parks and gardens)
179.LB (Old Bursledon special policy area)

Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014
20. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for
examination in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient
housing was being provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound. While
this has not been withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can
therefore be considered to have extremely limited weight in the
determination of this application.
Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036
21. The 2016-2036 Local Plan was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate on
31st October 2018 and the examination hearings concluded in January
2020. The Council received the Inspector’s post-Hearing advice on 1 April
2020. The Council is progressing with modifications to the Local Plan to
enable its adoption, anticipated in mid/ late 2021. Given the status of the
Emerging Plan, it is considered that overall considerable weight can be
attributed to it. The most relevant policies are:












S1 (Delivering sustainable development)
S2 (Approach to new development)
DM1 (General development criteria)
DM3 (Environmentally sustainable development)
DM6 (Sustainable surface water management and watercourse
management)
DM11 (Nature conservation)
DM12 (Heritage)
DM14 (Car parking)
DM28 (Replacement dwellings in the countryside)
DM32 (Internal space standards)
BU9 (Replacement dwellings in Old Bursledon)

Supplementary Planning Documents





Old Bursledon Conservation Appraisal and Management Proposals
(February 2012)
Quality Places (November 2011)
Residential Parking Standards (January 2009)
Biodiversity (December 2009)

71

National Planning Policy Framework
22. At national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or
the ‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in the
determination of planning applications.
Planning Practice Guidance
23. Where material, the Planning Practice Guidance which supports the
provisions and policies of the NPPF should be afforded weight in the
consideration and determination of planning applications.
Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative
Background
24. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a Local
Planning Authority determining an application to do so in accordance with
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
25. The Development Plan comprises the Saved Policies of the Eastleigh
Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 and the Hampshire Minerals and
Waste Plan 2013 (which is not applicable in this case). The NPPF and the
Planning Practice Guidance constitute material considerations of significant
weight.
26. The site also lies within a Conservation Area and Section 71(1) of the
Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states:
27. “In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in the
Conservation Area of any powers (under the Planning Acts), special
attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the
character or appearance of that area”.
28. Furthermore, the site is adjacent to Yew Tree Cottage and Rosewood,
which are grade II listed buildings. Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed
Building & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states:
29. “In considering whether to grant planning permission for development
which affects a Listed Building or its setting, the Local Planning Authority
… shall have regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its
setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it
possesses”.
Principle:
30. The site lies within designated countryside and also falls within the Old
Bursledon Conservation and Special Policy Areas. Saved Policy 8.CO
allows for the replacement of an existing dwelling in the countryside
which enjoys a lawful residential use subject to a number of criteria
being met.

72

31. With regards to the Conservation Area and Special Policy Area
designations, Saved Policies 170.LB and 179.LB are of the most
relevant in this case. The former allows for the demolition of buildings
within Conservation Areas in certain situations, these include where it
can be shown that the building is wholly beyond repair or incapable of a
reasonable beneficial use; where the buildings removal or replacement
would enhance the appearance of the area; or when it is essential to
enable a redevelopment scheme to take place and such a scheme
would positively enhance the character or appearance of the
conservation area. Saved Policy 179.LB allows for the construction of
replacement dwellings provided that they respect and enhance the
character of the Special Policy Area.
32. In this case, the current property is a rather non-descript timber framed
single storey dwelling clad in timber which has no significant
architectural or historical value and relatively limited presence within the
street scene. In principle, therefore, no objection is raised to its loss
providing that the replacement dwelling is of an appropriate design,
form, layout and scale both for the site itself as well as importantly for its
setting within the conservation area and special policy area. The
proposal must also be acceptable in other regards including residential
amenity, highway safety, as well as in respect of its impacts upon trees
and ecology. These matters are each considered in turn in the sections
below.
Design, Layout and Impact on the Character of the Locality
33. Saved Policy 8.CO requires that replacement dwellings in the countryside
are of an appropriate design which reflects the countryside location, that
they are not disproportionate in size to neighbouring properties or
disproportionate in relation to the plot and do not have a greater impact
physically or visually on the character and appearance of its immediate
surroundings or the countryside in general than the existing dwelling.
34. Saved Policy 59.BE requires that development takes full and proper
account of the context of the site including the character and appearance
of the locality and that it is appropriate in a number of regards including its
massing, scale, layout, design, siting and density.
35. Saved Policy 169.LB requires that development proposals preserve or
enhance the character or appearance of a conservation area or its setting
and that their mass, materials and form and are in harmony with the
adjoining buildings and the area as a whole.
36. Saved Policy 179.LB states in order to protect the special loose-knit
character of Old Bursledon (as identified on the Proposals Map) and to
ensure the retention of existing open areas, further development will be

73

refused within the special policy area with the exception of replacement
dwellings, appropriate extensions or changes of use, provided that these
respect and enhance the character of the Special Policy Area.
37. Following the previous dismissed appeal, a detailed assessment of the site
and its surrounding context has been undertaken and this has influenced
the architectural design of the proposed replacement dwelling. The scale of
the dwelling has also been significantly reduced from the large two storey
properties proposed under the previous two applications.
38. The replacement dwelling currently proposed is of a simple form and
relatively modest scale consisting of two symmetrical gabled sections at
either side of the building that are linked by a smaller central flat roof
element. The proposal is predominantly single storey, apart from a
sunken lower ground floor and terrace on the eastern side, which will not
be apparent from the surrounding area.
39. The design of the dwelling takes account of the surrounding
conservation area with the shape of its gable roofs, central entrance
arch and chimney reflecting those features present on some of the
nearby historical buildings. The dwelling is constructed in a buff coloured
brick with a stone entrance feature and so provides a more subtle
building than had it been constructed from traditional red brick. Natural
slate will finish the roof of the gable and the smaller connecting central
section will have a green sedum roof. Overall, the design, materials and
detailing of the replacement dwelling is considered to result in an
attractive and high quality dwelling.
40. In terms of its size, the replacement dwelling has an external floor area
of 180m2, compared to 96m2 of the existing dwelling, and as such
exceeds the guide of up to a 15% increase in floor space of the original
dwelling (as set out within the supporting text for Saved Policy 179.LB in
relation to extensions). However, some of its floor space is provided
within the sunken section of the property and so not visible from outside
of the site.
41. A point of concerned is the width of the proposed dwelling across the
plot, which at 17m wide is roughly double the width of the current
dwelling and was an issue raised within the previous applications.
However, unlike the previous schemes, the proposal is for a modest
single storey dwelling and its clever design with interlocking central flat
roof section means that’s its massing is very modest for what is a three
bed family property. The roof line of the proposed dwelling is no higher
than that of the current property and so maintains a feeling of space
around the building, which is an attractive feature of Old Bursledon and
picked up within the Old Bursledon Conservation Area Appraisal.

74

42. Furthermore, the proposal includes improvements to the property’s
frontage by repairing the existing damaged wall and creating a more
formal entrance feature with steel gates allowing glimpses of the
dwelling beyond. It will also remove the obtrusive double garage and
add further landscaping to the frontage thus providing a more appealing
setting for the replacement property.
43. The proposed dwelling has also been pushed much further back in the
plot than the current property. Its position along with its muted colours
and low profile roof means that the dwelling will not appear overly
prominent when viewed from the High Street and instead will blend into
the backdrop allowing the eye to be drawn by the neighbouring historical
buildings. In this respect the replacement dwelling is not considered to
affect the setting of Yew Tree Cottage or Rosewood, the grade II listed
buildings to the immediate east of the site.
44. One aspect of Old Bursledon is that the area contains a wide variation in
the scale of properties, ranging from large two/ three storey houses to
small bungalows, with the current dwelling at Mole Cottage being one of
the smallest properties in the locality. The property sits in a spacious
plot and as such there is considered scope for a reasonable sized single
storey family dwelling without overdeveloping the site or adversely
affecting the loose-knit character of Old Bursledon.
45. For the reasons outlined above, the scale, design, massing and setting
of the proposal is considered appropriate for the site and will lead to an
enhancement in the character and appearance of Old Bursledon
Conservation Area. In this respect the proposal meets the requirements
outlined in Saved Policies 59.BE, 169.LB, 170.LB & 179.LB.
46. The proposal also meets the requirements of Saved Policy 8.CO in that
the replacement dwelling will not have a significantly greater impact on
its surroundings that the current property and is in proportion to its plot
size and the size of neighbouring dwellings.
Residential Amenity
47. Saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan
Review 2001-2011 requires that development avoids unduly interfering,
disturbing or conflicting with adjoining or nearby uses, including by way
of overlooking and loss of light or outlook. Paragraph 127 of the NPPF,
amongst other things, requires that planning decisions ensure that
development provides a high standard of amenity for existing and future
users.

75

48. For residential amenity there are two primary considerations, these
being the ensuring of an acceptable level of amenity for the future
occupiers of the development and the impacts upon the amenity of the
occupiers of existing neighbouring properties. In these regards, the
Council’s Quality Places SPD provides design guidance in relation to a
range of matters including residential amenity and outlines a variety of
standards for new development on issues such as privacy, daylight and
sunlight, as well as minimum amenity space sizes.
49. In terms of the future occupiers of the development, the property would
have a sufficient level of internal floorspace to allow to the residents to
live comfortably, with habitable rooms also having potential to achieve
good levels of light and outlook. A sufficient degree of privacy would
also be achieved for the future occupiers owing to the large plot size and
good separation distances from the surrounding properties. In addition,
useable amenity space would be available which is well in excess of the
requirement set out within the Council’s Quality Places SPD for an area
which is equivalent to a minimum of 60% of the internal floor area of the
dwelling.
50. In terms of the potential impact on the existing residential properties, the
replacement dwelling would be sited adjacent to the neighbours at Yew
Tree Cottage, with the neighbour at Rosewood looking past the end of
the dwelling and the remaining neighbours being sited a reasonable
distance away (a minimum of 28m) so as not to be significantly
impacted by the development.
51. For Yew Tree Cottage, its rear windows, conservatory and garden are
angled towards the eastern elevation of Mole Cottage and so look
towards the neighbouring dwelling. A key concern of these residents is
that the replacement building will be positioned closer to the side
boundary with their property and so appear more prominent and impact
their light and outlook.
52. In response the replacement dwelling has been designed so that the
massing (height and depth) of the building’s eastern elevation is no
greater than that of the current single storey property. It has also been
pushed much further back in the site where it is partly screened by Yew
Tree Cottage’s double garage and the high hedge. A distance of at least
17m will still remain between the replacement dwelling and rear
windows in Yew Tree Cottage.
53. While the replacement dwelling has windows on the eastern elevation
these are at ground floor level so there is not considered to be
overlooking given the position of the boundary hedge. The neighbour

76

has commented that the hedge could be removed, but this is considered
unlikely and, in those circumstances, would probably be replaced with
an alterative high boundary to maintain privacy.
54. In terms of light, the planning application includes sunlight diagrams (for
different times of the day and year) and various site sections. These
show the effects the proposed and existing dwellings on the light
received and outlook of Yew Tree Cottage.
55. While Yew Tree Cottage sits on a much lower level than the site, the
information shows that much of the cottage’s current outlook and
sunlight is affected by the boundary hedge and their own garage (which
sits on a raised driveway at the side of the property) rather than Mole
Cottage. This will continue to be the case under the proposed
replacement dwelling.
56. The planning application is supported by a full daylighting and
sunlighting report to BRE standards, which concludes that the
development will have a negligible impact on the light received by any of
the neighbouring properties. The replacement dwelling passes the 25
degree daylighting test (outlined in quality places SPD).
57. In terms of residential amenity, the proposal is considered to meet the
requirements of Saved Policy 59.BE and be in accordance with the
National Planning Policy Framework.
Highway Matters
58. Saved Policy 59.BE (v.) requires that development has a satisfactory
means of access and layout for vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians, whilst
Saved Policy 104.T requires that an appropriate level of car parking be
provided in accordance with the Council’s adopted standards. The policy
provisions are considered to be consistent with the requirements of the
NPPF and in particular those of paragraph 108.
59. The proposed replacement dwelling will utilise the existing access to the
plot from the High Street. The proposal includes repairing and partly
extending the boundary wall around the site entrance. This design retains
sufficient visibility at the junction for the modest level of vehicular
movements that would be associated with it. In addition, the replacement
entrance gate has been recessed further into the site to allow a car to pull
off the highway while the gate opens.
60. The proposal includes a sizeable driveway that would provide for a level of
parking which would be more than adequate to serve the development and

77

which would be in excess of the minimum requirements set out within the
Council’s adopted Residential Parking Standards SPD. A small bin and
cycle store is tucked away in the far corner of the property’s frontage
behind a new hedgerow.
61. As such in terms of highway matters and car parking the proposal accords
with the prevailing planning policies.
Trees and Ecology
62. Saved Policy 59.BE (i.) requires development to take account of trees
and other natural features and Saved Policy 25.NC aims to ensure that
development does not adversely affect a habitat or feature of
importance to wild fauna or flora. The policy provisions are consistent
with section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework which covers
conserving and enhancing the natural environment.
63. The application is accompanied by a tree survey which shows that there
are no significant trees within influencing distance of the proposed
dwelling and as such the proposal will not have a direct impact on any
important trees. The Tree Officer has not objected to the application but
notes that there are some mature trees to the north of the site (covered
by conservation area regulations) and so details of protective fencing
will need to be agreed by condition to ensure these trees are not
accidentally damaged during the works.
64. In terms of ecology, a Phase 1 and 2 Ecology Assessment has also
been submitted which concludes that the site is of limited ecological
value and the proposal will have no predicted impacts on designated
sites. The assessment concludes that roosting bats are likely absent
from the site having carried out bat surveys. No objection has been
raised by the Ecology Officer.
Sustainability
65. Saved Policy 34.ES looks for development to make provision for
reducing carbon dioxide and other green house gases and this
requirement is echoed in the National Planning Policy Framework.
66. The proposal will replace the current poorly constructed dwelling with a
new building, which meets current energy efficiency standards and
building regulations. Once constructed, the replacement dwelling will
therefore have a lower carbon footprint than the existing dwelling.

78

67. The proposal goes further than this with its innovative design including a
green roof and a garden design combining rainwater collection and
native plantings providing benefits for sustainability, ecology and also
slowing down surface water run off.
68. In this respect the proposal is considered to make provision for reducing
green house gases and conserving resources in line with the planning
framework and the Council’s aspiration for development within the
borough.
Other Considerations
Equalities Implications:
69. Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 created the public sector equality
duty. Section149 states:a. A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due
regard to the need to:
i. eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any
other conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act;
ii. advance equality of opportunity between persons who share
a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not
share it;
iii. foster good relations between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.
70. When making policy decisions, the Council must take account of the
equality duty and in particular any potential impact on protected groups. It
is considered that this application does not raise any equality implications.
Response to third party issues raised
71. The position of the dwelling and water feature is not considered to result in
significant noise disturbance when compared to the existing ambient noise
levels.
72. In terms of surface water, conditions will be used to ensure that the new
hard standings are constructed from porous materials and the site will
retain a large garden and landscaping.
73. The proposal will require building regulations consent, which is separate
from planning permission and covers both surface water drainage and
foundation design.
74. The proposal cannot consider any future outbuildings that maybe required,
the merits of which will be considered under a future planning application.

79

75. While the Local Planning Authority encourages applicants to involve their
neighbours before submitting a planning application it is not a requirement
of the pre-application process.
76. Due to the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic there are unfortunately delays in
sending out neighbour notification letters on planning applications.
However, the consultation end dates have been adjusted so that
neighbouring residents still receive 21 days to comment on a planning
application, and 14 days to comment on any further amended plans.
Conclusion
77. The principle of a replacement dwelling on the site is considered
acceptable and the proposed scheme is of an appropriate design, form,
layout and scale which will enhance the character and appearance of the
Old Bursledon Conservation Area and protect the setting of the nearby
listed buildings. The proposal is also acceptable in regard to its impact on
residential amenity, highway safety, trees, ecology and sustainability.
78. As outlined within the report the proposal complies with local and national
planning policies and is therefore recommended for permission.

80

81

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
BHH – Bursledon, Hamble and Hound Local Area Committee – Wednesday
24 March 2021.
Application Number:
Case Officer:
Received Date:
Site Address:
Applicant:
Proposal:

Recommendation:

F/20/88749
Clare Martin
15/09/2020
Carpark and Land to the rear of 67a to 83 New Road,
Netley, SO31 5BN
Scott Pinnick
Erection of 2no. 3 bed town houses and 6no. 2 & 3 bed
bungalows with access from New Road.
Subject to the completion of a planning obligation to
secure the following:
 Daytime public access to the remaining on-site car
park.
 Contribution towards the Solent Recreation Mitigation
Strategy
 Mitigation for the impact from additional nitrates on the
Solent and Southampton Water SPA.
 Contribution towards implementation of a traffic
regulation order.

Then delegate to the Head of Housing and
Development to PERMIT
_________________________________________________________________
CONDITIONS AND REASONS
1

The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with
the following plans numbered: 28086-PD99 Rev A, 28086-PD97 Rev A, 28086PD098 Rev A, 28086-PD100 Rev A, 28086-PD101 Rev J, 28086-PD102 Rev
D, 28086-PD103 Rev B, 28086-PD104 Rev B, 28086-PD105 Rev C,
AS/SP/0819 TSP, AS/SP/0819 TCP & BG19.291..
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2

The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from the
date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.

3

No excavation, demolition or development related works shall start until a
Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local
Planning Authority. Demolition and construction work shall only take place in
accordance with the approved method statement which shall include:
a) location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction material and
plant storage areas used during demolition and construction;
b) the arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction works,
loading/ unloading of plant & materials.
c) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;

83

d) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt generated by demolition
and construction;
e) a scheme for controlling noise and vibration from demolition and construction
activities (to include any piling);
f) provision for storage, collection, and disposal of rubbish from the
development during construction period;
g) measures to prevent mud and dust on the highway during demolition and
construction;
h) temporary lighting;
i) safeguards to be used within the construction process to ensure surface
water contains no pollutants upon leaving the site.
Reason: To limit the impact the development has on the amenity of the locality

84

4

No excavation, demolition or development related works shall take place on site
until an arboricultural method statement and tree protection plan, as per British
Standard 5837:2012 (Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction
– Recommendations), are submitted and approved by the LPA. The approved
documents must be adhered to in full, and may only be modified subject to
written agreement from the LPA. The development must accord with the
arboricultural report reference AS/WB/0819. Reason: to retain and protect the
existing trees which form an important part of the amenity of the locality.

5

No excavation, demolition or development related works shall start on site until
the following has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority: (a) Report of preliminary investigation comprising a Desk
Study, Conceptual Site Model and Preliminary Risk Assessment documenting
previous and existing land uses of the site and adjacent land in accordance
with national guidance as set out in Contaminated Land Reports Nos. 11
CLR11, and BS10175:2011+A2 2017 Investigation of potentially contaminated
sites Code of Practice, and, unless otherwise agreed with the Local Planning
Authority; (b) A report of a site investigation documenting the ground conditions
of the site and incorporating chemical and gas analysis identified as appropriate
by the Preliminary Investigation in accordance with BS10175:2011+A2 2017
and BS8576:2013, and, unless otherwise agreed with the Local Planning
Authority; (c) A detailed site specific scheme for remedial works and measures
to be undertaken to avoid the risk from contaminants and/or gases when the
site is developed and proposals for future maintenance a and monitoring. Such
a scheme shall include nomination of a competent person to oversee the
implementation of the works.
Reason: To minimise the risk from land contamination for public safety in
accordance with Saved Policy 32.ES of the Eastleigh Borough Local PLan
(2001 - 2011) and Policy DM8 of the Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan
(2016 - 2036). This condition is required prior to commencement to ensure that
the development, including clearance, of the existing site does not result in an
impact on public safety.

6

The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied/brought into use until
there has been submitted to the local planning authority verification by the
competent person approved under the provisions of the above condition 5(c)
that any remediation scheme required and approved under the provisions of the

above condition 5(c) has been implemented in full in accordance with the
approved details (unless varied with the written permission of the local planning
authority in advance of implementation). Unless agreed in writing with the local
planning authority such verification shall comply with the guidance contained in
CLR11 and EA guidance for the safe development of housing on land affected
by contamination - R&D Publication 66:2008. Typically such a report would
comprise:(a) A description of the site and its background, and summary of
relevant site information (b) A description of the remediation objectives and
remedial works carried out (c) Verification data including - sample locations/
analytical results, as built drawings of the implemented scheme, photographs of
the remediation works in progress, etc (d) Certificates demonstrating that
imported and /or material left in situ is free from contamination. Thereafter the
scheme shall be monitored and maintained in accordance with the approved
scheme under condition 5(c).
Reason: To minimise the risk from land contamination for public safety.

7

No development shall start until details of a sustainable drainage system have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
drainage system shall be implemented and thereafter maintained in accordance
with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure satisfactory drainage for the development.

8
No development above DPC level shall start until the following details have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:
a) details and samples of the materials to be used in the construction of the
external surfaces of the building.
b) the alignment, height and materials of all walls, fences and other means of
enclosure
c) plans including cross sections to show proposed ground levels and their
relationship to existing levels both within the site and on immediately adjoining
land.
d) width, alignment, gradient and type of construction proposed for the road and
site access.
e) the provision to be made for the parking of vehicles including surfacing details
and measures to distinguish residents parking from public car parking spaces.
f) provision of cycle storage
The development shall not be occupied until the approved details have been fully
implemented.
Reason: To limit the impact the development has on the locality.

10

Notwithstanding the submitted details, the dwellings hereby approved shall not
be occupied until a revised landscaping scheme and full planting schedule for
all trees and shrubs shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The details shall include species, size, form, container and

85

spacing. The agreed landscaping scheme shall be fully implemented by the end
of the first planting season following completion of the development. For a
period of no less than 5 years after planting, any trees or plants which are
removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced as
soon as is reasonably practicable with others of the same species, size and
number as originally approved in the landscaping scheme.
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality.

86

11

The dwellings hereby approved shall not be occupied until details for the
ongoing maintenance and management of the ecological enhancement area,
landscaping, access road and car parking areas has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be
managed and maintained in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To protect and enhance biodiversity and to ensure long term
maintenance of the communal area of the site.

12

The dwellings hereby approved shall not be occupied until the access, including
the footway and verge crossing, has been constructed and lines of sight of 2.4
metres by 43.0 metres provided in accordance with the approved plans. The
lines of sight splays shown on the approved plans shall be kept free of any
obstruction exceeding 1 metre in height above the adjacent carriageway and
shall be subsequently maintained so thereafter.
Reason: To provide satisfactory access and in the interests of highway safety.

13

No dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied until such time as the parking
spaces and other service facilities for that unit, including bin collection points,
vehicle turning areas, garden boundary treatments and access roads and
paths, have been fully provided in accordance with the approved plans. The
parking spaces shall be retained at all times for residents parking.
Reason: To ensure the parking and other supporting infrastructure is available
for residents of each unit from the time of first occupation.

14

The dwellings hereby approved shall not be occupied until as built stage SAP
data and as built stage water calculator confirming energy efficiency and the
predicted internal mains water consumption to achieve the following has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. In respect
of energy efficiency, a standard of a site wide 19% improvement of dwelling
emission rate over the target emission rate as set in the 2013 Building
Regulations. In respect of water consumption, a maximum predicted internal
mains water consumption of 105 litres/person/day.
Reason: To support a comprehensive approach to high quality design across
the site; in line with the guidance set out in the Government's Ministerial
Statement of 25 March 2015 which states that Local Planning Authorities
should, from the date of its publication, take into account the government's
intentions in the statement and not set conditions with requirements above a
Code level 4 equivalent.

15

The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the
measures outlined within the preliminary ecological appraisal (by Brindle &
Green Ecological Consultants, Referenced BG19.291, dated September 2019)

and in accordance with the approved Biodiversity Enhancement
Plan BG19.291 Rev P01 dated 25.02.21). Unless otherwise stated all approved
biodiversity enhancements shall be in place before the end of the first planting
season following occupation of the dwellings.
Reason: To protect and enhance biodiversity .
16

The first floor windows on the side elevations of plot 2 shall be obscure glazed
to Pilkingtons level 3 or equivalent and non-opening below 1.7 metres above
the floor of the room in which they are installed. Once installed the windows
shall be permanently maintained in that condition.
Reason: To protect the amenity and privacy of the adjoining residential
property.

17

No burning of materials obtained by site clearance or any other source shall
take place during the demolition, construction and fitting out process.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties.

18

No construction, demolition or deliveries to the site shall take place during the
construction period except between the hours of 0800 to 1800 Mondays to
Fridays or 0900 to 1300 on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or Bank
Holidays.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby dwellings.

19

No driven pilling shall take place on the development hereby permitted.
Reason: To protect the amenity of the occupiers of the nearby dwellings.

20

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning [General
Permitted Development] Order 2015 [or any order revoking or re-enacting that
order with or without modification] no development permitted by Part 1 Class A,
B or C of Schedule 2 of the order shall be carried out without the prior written
approval of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the locality and to maintain a good quality
environment.

21

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning [General
Permitted Development Order] 2015, [or in any provision equivalent to that
Class[es] in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with
or without modification] no access other than that showed on the approved plan
shall be formed on New Road.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety
Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning
Policy Framework (February 2019), Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive
approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever
possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a
timely manner.

87

Report:
This application has been referred to Committee as it is considered to be
controversial and the previous planning application on the site was determined
by Bursledon Hamble and Hound Local Area Committee
Proposal and Planning History
1. The proposal is for the construction of 2no. two storey houses fronting New
Road and leading to a further 6no. bungalows/ chalet bungalows at the
rear of the site.
2. A planning application for the two houses at the front of the site was
previously considered by the Bursledon Hamble and Hound Local Area
Committee in September 2020 (under F/20/87411), which resolved to grant
planning permission subject to the completion of a S106 agreement.
3. This previous application proposed sixteen public use car parking spaces
to replace the loss of the existing car park on which it was situated. Sixteen
spaces are also proposed within this current application, but they have
been rearranged to allow vehicular access to the rear of the site.
4. Under the current proposal the site has been extended to include an area
of overgrown gardens behind the houses along Station Road and the Sea
View Estate. It is proposed to accommodate six semi-detached bungalows
and chalet bungalows in this area, which will be positioned around a
central parking courtyard. At the back of each property is a small private
garden and behind this is a large ecological enhancement area. The
application also includes provision for bin collections and landscaping.
5. The application is accompanied by the following reports and technical
assessments:
 Design and Access Statement
 Parking Survey and Access Technical Note
 Nitrates Assessment
 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
 Tree Survey and Constraints Plan
 Site Survey
 Transport Statement
EIA & HRA Screening
6. As this is a small scale housing development the proposal has been
screened out under the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact
Assessment) (England) Regulations 2011
7. Due to the recreation and nitrates impact of the development on the Solent
and Southampton Water SPA, screening under the Habitats Directive has
been undertaken and these impacts are discussed within a later section of
the report.

88

Site Characteristics
8. The site is accessed from New Road between no.67 (a salon) and no.67a
(a residential property). The front section of the site comprises a large area
of hard standing, which is owned and used as parking for the Netley
Central Sports Club and previously provided a free car park for visitors of
Netley. The parking is capable of holding 24 vehicles. There is an
established hedge along the south eastern boundary with no.67 and the
remainder of the car park is bound by a mixture of fencing and walls.
9. The rear of the site contains an overgrown garden with some old fruit trees.
The site contains areas of scrub and dense vegetation and there are a
small number of rundown outbuildings. The rear of the site is surrounded
by houses and enclosed by a mixture of vegetation and close boarded
fencing.
10. The site covers an area of approx. 3000m² (3.2 ha) and there is a gentle
upwards slope from the entrance with New Road towards the rear of the
site.
Character of the Locality
11. The site is located on the south eastern edge of Netley Village Centre
where there is a small range of shops and local amenities. On its other
sides the site is bordered by residential properties. The buildings within the
immediate area are a mixture of one, two and three storeys in fairly
traditional architectural styles.
12. The opposite side of New Road marks the south eastern tip of Netley
Conservation Area, which contains a number of listed buildings although
none of these are close to the application site. On the corner of New Road
and Station Road is Netley Library, which is recognised as a building of
local importance.
Representations Received
13. Twenty two representations were received (comprising nineteen objections
and three comments) raising the following issues:
 Impact on local infrastructure and services.
 Erodes village character.
 Increase in traffic, noise and light pollution.
 Loss of green space, habitat for wildlife and tree coverage.
 Loss of public car park, which will have a detrimental impact on viability
of Netley village centre.
 Proposal will increase existing on street parking and exacerbate
highway safety issues.
 Lack of visibility at site access.
 Overdevelopment of the site - too much housing development in Netley
 No provision made for pedestrian and disabled people.

89













Contrary to building regs requirements for emergency access.
Insufficient manoeuvring space for refuse vehicles
Restricts bin servicing for Netley Social Club
Insufficient car parking.
Hedgerows need to be retained and maintenance details provided.
No drainage information provided.
Need to mitigate for additional nitrate load on waste water
infrastructure.
Noise from people leaving Netley Social Club will disturb residents.
Too great a distance between bin storage area and rear bungalows.
No provision for electric car charging points.
Car parking survey does not reflect residents’ experiences of car
parking in the locality. Accident data does not reflect minor accidents,
which are not reported.

Consultation Responses
Ecology Officer:
14. I am satisfied with the creation of an ecological enhancement area. The
biodiversity enhancements proposed are acceptable and follow advise
previously given by the Ecology Officer. Details will be required as to how
the area will be protected and managed.
15. The inclusion of integral bat and bird boxes along with holes in the
kickboards of the close boarded timber fencing are helpful features. Reptile
habitats should also be provided on site.
16. In terms of drainage, the soil infiltration results indicate that soakaways will
be appropriate and permeable paving will be used.
Tree Officer – No objection
17. Amended plans have been received to increase the number of trees and
canopy cover on the site. A tree protection condition is recommended.
Landscape Officer – Comment
18. Feedback has been provided by the landscape officer on the proposed
planting scheme. A full planting schedule is required via condition.
19. Furthermore, a landscape management and maintenance plan is required,
especially for the wilder areas beyond the gardens. This area is separated
by a post and rail fence and native hedges containing prohibitively spiney
species, which will make sections of this area inaccessible. Details will
need to be secured as to how this area will be established and maintained.
Transport Officer (HCC): No objection, subject to conditions regarding site
access details, securing parking provision & construction method statement.

90









Parking is compliant with EBC residential parking standards.
The proposal will retain 16 of the current 24 parking spaces. Based on
the supporting information, it is anticipated that this shortfall would be
acceptable with alternative parking in the locality and not resulting in a
severe highway impact.
A contribution of £6K is secured towards the implementation of Traffic
regulation Order's (TROs), primarily at the proposed access junction.
Tactile paving and drop kerb is to be provided at the site entrance to
allow for pedestrians close to the retail centre.
A Section 278 highways agreement will be necessary for changes to
the access.
Internal vehicle tracking has been undertaken for a refuse vehicle of
adequate size, although space provided is tight.

Built Heritage Consultant: No objection





Proposal will introduce a building into the unfortunate gap in the New
Road street-scene caused by the car parking area.
The layout works well with a clear division of public and private spaces.
The proposed buildings are at slightly differing levels and the use of
yellow brick for the middle units give variety and separation.
The low profile buildings will reduce the apparent intrusion on the view
from the rear of surrounding properties.

Environmental Health: No objection, subject to land contamination and
construction hours conditions.
Natural England: Comment
20. It is considered that without appropriate mitigation this proposal would have
a significant effect on the Solent and Southampton Water SPA & Ramsar,
Solent Maritime SAC, Solent and Dorset Coast SPA & Ramsar.
21. Natural England notes that your authority has undertaken an Appropriate
Assessment of the proposal, in accordance with Regulation 63 of the
Habitat Regulations and makes the following comments:
 Further information is required on the proposed surface water quality
management measures.
 Contributions need to be secured for mitigation towards the increased
recreational disturbance on the SPA.
 It is noted that the applicant intends to use the Hampshire and Isle of
Wight Trust Offsetting Scheme for this development to provide nutrient
offsetting. Providing this mitigation is secured in perpetuity for the
lifetime of the development then there would be no water quality
impacts on the SPD.
 A construction environmental management plan should be secured by
condition.

91

Hound Parish Council: Objection
 Highway Safety Concerns
 Poor Layout
 Loss of Trees
 Over-development
 Loss of Amenity & Car Parking.
Policy Context and Designations Applicable to Site








Within Built-up Area Boundary
Within Established Residential Area
Adjacent to Designated Conservation Area (Netley Abbey).
Close to Locally Listed Building (Netley Library to the west)
Within HRA Screening Area
Within Catchment Area of Solent and Southampton Water SPA and
SAC.
Within Solent Recreation and Disturbance Zone.

Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) Saved Policies:














25.NC (Promotion of biodiversity);
26.NC (Protection of wildlife network);
28.ES (Waste collection and storage);
34.ES (Reduction of green house gases);
37.ES (Energy efficiency);
45.ES (Sustainable drainage);
59.BE (Design criteria);
72.H (Density);
100.T (Transport criteria);
102.T (New accesses);
104.T (Off-highway parking);
169.LB (Conservation areas):
190.IN (Infrastructure provision):

Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014
22. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for
examination in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient
housing was being provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound. While
this has not been withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can
therefore be considered to have extremely limited weight in the
determination of this application.
Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036
23. The 2016-2036 Local Plan was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate on
31st October 2018 and the examination hearings concluded in January
2020. The Council received the Inspector’s post-Hearing advice on 1 April
2020. The Council is progressing with modifications to the Local Plan to

92

enable its adoption, anticipated in mid/ late 2021. Given the status of the
Emerging Plan, and the policies related to this development site, it is
considered that overall considerable weight can be attributed to it. The
most relevant policies are:
















S1 (Sustainable Development);
S2 (Promotion of New Development);
S3 (Housing Locations);
DM1 (General Development Criteria);
DM2 (Environmentally Sustainable Development);
DM3 (Adapting to Climate Change);
DM6 (Sustainable Surface Water & Watercourse Management);
DM8 (Pollution)
DM10 (Water and Waste Water);
DM11 (Nature Conservation);
DM12 (Heritage Assets)
DM13 (Transport);
DM14 (Car Parking);
DM23 (Residential Development in Urban Areas);
DM32 (Space Standards):

Supplementary Planning Documents






Quality Places (November 2011);
Biodiversity (December 2009);
Environmentally Sustainable Development (March 2009);
Residential Parking Standards (January 2009);
Character Area Appraisal – Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice and Hound
(January 2008)

National Planning Policy Framework
24. At a national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’
or the ‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in the
determination of planning applications. The NPPF states that (as
required by statute) applications for planning permission must be
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise and sets out a general presumption in
favour of sustainable development.
25. The three identified dimensions of sustainability should be sought
jointly: economic (supporting economy and ensuring land availability);
social (providing housing, creating a high quality environment with
accessible local services); and environmental (contributing to, protecting
and enhancing the natural, built and historic environment) whilst local
circumstances should also be taken into account so that development
appropriately responds to the different opportunities for achieving
sustainable development in different areas.

93

Planning Practice Guidance
26. Where material, the Planning Practice Guidance which supports the
provisions and policies of the NPPF should be afforded weight in the
consideration and determination of planning applications.
Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative
Background
27. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a Local
Planning Authority determining an application to do so in accordance with
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
The Development Plan comprises the Saved Policies of the Eastleigh
Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 and the Hampshire Minerals and
Waste Plan 2013 (which is not applicable in this case). The NPPF and the
Planning Practice Guidance constitute material considerations of significant
weight.
Principle:
28. The site is located within the built-up area boundary and within a
sustainable location next to shops and services within Netley Village
Centre. As such the principle of the housing development is considered
acceptable, subject to consideration of the details of the proposal against
the relevant local and national planning policies.
29. The application is for eight dwellings, which at 27dph is a relatively low
density development. However, the proposal reflects the character and
spacious nature of dwellings in the locality and is therefore considered an
appropriate level of development. As the site is currently undeveloped, the
addition of eight dwellings would make a more efficient use of urban land
and as such is in line with the aspirations of Saved Policy 59.BE (ii), and
para 122 of the National Planning Policy Framework
30. It is noted that third parties have raised a number of concerns regarding
the level of development taking place in Netley Abbey with particular issues
including the level of traffic and ability of local facilities to cater for new
residents. However, given the relatively small scale of the development,
the increase in residents in this area is not considered to result in a
significant impact on the function of the highway or cause detriment to local
services.
31. As previously mentioned, there is a resolution to grant planning
permission for the two dwellings at the front of the site on the area
previously used for car parking. The application was considered in
September 2020 and there are not considered to have been any
changes that warrant reaching a different conclusion to the previous
application. As such this part of the scheme will be briefly touched on

94

within the remainder of the report with the main focus being on the six
new dwellings in the rear section of the site.
Design and Impact on the Character of the Locality
32. Saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local Plan requires that development
takes full and proper account of the context of the site including the
character and appearance of the locality and that it is appropriate in a
number of regards including its massing, scale, layout, design, siting and
density.
33. The proposal is for six semi detached dwellings at the rear of the site
and these are positioned in an L shape around a central parking
courtyard. The dwellings are of a modest scale, the two middle
properties being 1.5 storey chalet bungalows with small dormer windows
and the remaining properties being single storey bungalows. The
dwellings are of a traditional design with a good level of detailing and
pleasant features.
34. The central car park for the rear dwellings is nicely landscaped with tree
planting and there is further planting throughout the site. The rear
section is accessed via a private road and the low level dwellings are
tucked away behind existing two storey houses. As such this element of
the proposal will not be readily apparent from the public realm and will
have a limited impact on the mixed residential/ commercial character of
the locality.
35. The proposal also includes 2no. two storey houses at the front of the site
along New Road. These houses follow the traditional form, scale and
layout of the existing dwellings along New Road and will infill the current
gap within the street scene. The houses have a high level of detailing
and will make an appealing addition to the street scene as well as the
approach to Netley Abbey Conservation Area.
Residential Amenity
36. Saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan
Review 2001-2011 requires that development avoids unduly interfering,
disturbing or conflicting with adjoining or nearby uses, including by way
of overlooking and loss of light or outlook. Paragraph 127 of the NPPF,
amongst other things, requires that planning decisions ensure that
development provides a high standard of amenity for existing and future
users.

95

37. In this respect, therefore, there are two primary considerations, these
being the ensuring of an acceptable level of amenity for the future
occupiers of the development and the impacts upon the amenity of the
occupiers of existing neighbouring properties. In these regards, the
Council’s Quality Places SPD provides design guidance in relation to a
range of matters including residential amenity and outlines a variety of
standards for new development on issues such as privacy, daylight and
sunlight, as well as minimum amenity space sizes.
38. In terms of future residents, the proposed dwelling’s range in size from
three bed two storey houses at the front to a collection of two and three
bed bungalows/ chalet bungalows to the rear. All the dwellings meet the
minimum floor space requirements set out within the nationally
described space standards and provide a private rear garden of at least
60% of the dwelling floor space (as set out within Quality Places SPD).
As such the dwellings are considered to provide a reasonable living
environment for the future residents.
39. In terms of the potential impacts upon existing occupiers, the proposed
dwellings all meet the daylight and amenity tests outlined in the Quality
Places SPD. The front two dwellings follow the established pattern of
development along New Road and an obscure glazing condition will limit
visibility between the proposed first floor side window of plot 2 and the
existing side window in the house at 67a.
40. The rear dwellings are low level properties with most being single storey.
The dwellings are positioned at the end of the gardens for the houses
along Station Road and the Sea View Estate, where they are not
considered to unacceptably affect the light or outlook of the
neighbouring dwellings.
41. In terms of separation distances, a distance of 22m is required between
existing and proposed first floor windows in order to maintain privacy.
The proposal meets this standard, apart from Plot 6 where its rear
dormer windows are 20m from the house that is being proposed in the
grounds of 27 Sea View Estate (and currently being considered under
F/19/86015). However, these properties are at an angle to each other
rather than directly facing and so the 20m separation distance is
considered reasonable and will not result in an unacceptable loss of
privacy.
42. The proposal is considered to accord with planning policies, in that it
provides an acceptable level of amenity for the future occupiers of the
development and does not unacceptably affect the outlook, daylight or
privacy of neighbouring dwellings.

96

Car Parking and Highway Safety
43. Saved Policy 59.BE (v.) requires that development has a satisfactory
means of access and layout for vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians including
appropriate links to surrounding footpaths, cycleways and public transport
services, whilst Saved Policy 104.T requires that an appropriate level of car
parking be provided in accordance with the Council’s adopted standards.
The policy provisions are considered to be consistent with the
requirements of the NPPF and in particular those of paragraphs 108 and
109.
44. In terms of car parking, each property has two on site parking spaces
and there are a further four shared visitor spaces, which are either
provided within the central parking courtyard or behind the two houses
at the front of the site. The level of car parking accords with the
Council’s residential parking standards SPD and as such should not
lead to overspill car parking on the surrounding public roads.
45. For bin collection, a collection point has been provided at the car park
entrance for the rear properties, to prevent bins having to be pulled
along the access road on collection day. Vehicular tracking details
demonstrate that a refuse lorry can access the rear of the site, although
it is noted that manoeuvring the refuse vehicle is rather tight.
46. The site access accords with visibility standards and the front of the site
follows the layout of the previous scheme. Third parties have raised
safety concerns about the development resulting in additional on street
parking, particularly around the access junction where cars could
obscure site lines. In line with the Highway Officer’s consultation
response, and due to the nature and scale of the proposed
development, a contribution of £6K towards a traffic regulation order at
the proposed access junction is to be secured as part of the Section 106
Agreement.
47. An issue raised by third parties is that there is no separate pedestrian/
disabled access linking the rear properties to New Road. However, the
access road is wide enough for a car and pedestrian to safely pass one
another. A shared surface is considered acceptable given that cars will
need to travel at low speeds and the relatively modest vehicular
movements involved.
48. For the reasons set out above, the proposal is considered to provide an
acceptable means of access and car parking for development and not
adversely impact highway safety. As such the proposal accords with Saved
Policy 59.BE (v.), Saved Policy 104.T and guidance within the National
Planning Policy Framework.

97

Provision of Public Car Parking
49. Third party representations have highlighted the loss of the current
public car parking facility, and the impact this would have on both trade
for the existing business and the resulting additional cars which would
park on the surrounding roads causing a traffic obstruction.
50. However, this issue was considered in detail during a previous local
area committee where Members resolved to grant planning permission
for the two houses on the existing car park at the front of the site,
subject to the completion of a Section 106 Planning Agreement. The
agreement is to secure the remaining sixteen spaces behind the Netley
Social Club to be available for public use in perpetuity between the
hours of 7am and 6pm Monday to Friday (Excluding Bank Holidays) and
7am to 1pm on Saturdays, Sundays and Bank Holidays.
51. The current proposal has adjusted the layout of the sixteen publicly
useable car parking spaces to provide vehicular access for the dwellings
to the rear of the site and include room to turn a refuse collection lorry.
Fifteen of the public car parking spaces have been repositioned within
the area directly behind the social club while the final space is located to
the side of this area within the turning space created for the refuse lorry.
It is noted that access to this parking space could be limited for the short
time that the refuse vehicle is on site, however, the tracking vehicles do
not show the refuse lorry driving over this space.
52. It is therefore considered that the changes in the public car parking are
not considered to have a significant impact on the viability of Netley
Village Centre or raise additional highway safety issues over and above
that of the previous application. The spaces will be provided on the
same terms as the previous application and secured via the completion
of a S106 agreement.
Trees, Ecology and Landscaping:
53. Saved Policy 59.BE (i) requires development to take full account of natural
features and trees worthy of retention and these requirements are in line
with the National Planning Policy Framework.
54. Saved Policy 25.NC looks to protect habitats and ecological features of
importance. Since the adoption of these policies, the ecological
requirements have been strengthened with paragraph 170 d) of the NPPF
requiring development to minimise impacts on and make provision for
biodiversity.

98

55. Neighbour comments have highlighted the loss of the trees and
vegetation covering the rear section of the site as this provides a habitat
for wildlife. However, there are no protected trees within the site and
none of the individual trees have an amenity benefit worthy of this level
of protection. Therefore, while it is disappointing to see the loss of this
green space for housing, the site is privately owned land and can be
cleared without planning permission regardless of the outcome of this
application.
56. The proposed application retains some of the existing perimeter hedging,
particularly along the sites rear boundary and alongside the access road.
Additional tree and vegetation planting has also been added around the car
parking area and close to the rear gardens. While the level of tree and
vegetation cover will inevitably be less than the current site, the
opportunities for planting has been maximised while still accommodating
the eight dwellings. No objection has been raised by the tree officer.
57. Furthermore, in order to replace some of the vegetation lost to the
development, the garden sizes have been reduced and an ecological
enhancement area created behind the rear dwellings. This area will
accommodate a mixture of woodland meadow and woodland flower
meadow and thus retaining a habitat for some of the creatures currently
using the site. On this basis no objection has been raised by the Ecology
Officer.
58. A condition will be used to establish and ensure the maintenance
arrangements and long term protection of the ecological enhancement
area and landscaping within the site. Further conditions will be applied to
ensure that bat and bird boxes and reptile habitats are provided as outlined
with the preliminary ecological appraisal.
Drainage and Flood Risk
59. Saved Policy 45.ES requires development proposals to incorporate
measures for the disposal of surface water, where practical through
sustainable drainage systems and include maintenance arrangements. The
policy requirements are in line with the National Planning Policy
Framework, with paragraph 165 requiring sustainable drainage systems to
be incorporated into major developments.
60. The rear of the site is currently an overgrown area and it is recognised
that the proposed development will increase the level of hard surfacing
on the site, and as such without appropriate drainage, has the potential
to increase the level of surface water runoff.

99

61. It is the applicant’s intention to use soakaways to deal with the surface
water drainage and preliminary findings from the soil infiltration tests
indicate that this is a viable solution for the site with the final details
being secured via condition. It will also be a requirement for hard
surfacing to be permeable. With these measures in place the proposal is
considered to accord with Saved Policy 45.ES.
62. In terms of flooding, the application site is located within flood zone 1
and therefore at the lowest risk of flooding from rivers or the sea. As the
site is under 1 hectare a flood risk assessment is not required for the
proposal.
Sustainability Measures and Climate Change:
63. National legislation and guidance, together with local policy ensure that all
planning applications are tested for their resilience to and impact on the
environment. Details elsewhere in this report set out the Climate Change
and Environmental implications of this application and their proposed
mitigations.
64. The NPPF (paragraphs 95-99), Saved Policies 34.ES and 37.ES of the
Local Plan, and emerging Policies S1, DM2 and DM3 of the submitted
Local Plan require development to be sustainable in terms of resource
use, climate change and energy use. In March 2015 a Ministerial
Statement announced that the Code for Sustainable Homes would
cease to be applied to new development, although the requirement to
achieve the Code’s levels for energy efficiency and water consumption
remains. A condition requiring the new development to meet these
requirements can reasonably be imposed.
Land Contamination:
65. Saved Policy 32.ES states that development will only be permitted if
they have been designed to control the impact of air, land or water
pollution to an acceptable level. It is accepted that without proper
management that noise, dust and water pollution can become issues
during construction. A condition requiring a Construction Environmental
Management Plan is therefore recommended.
66. Due to the previous use of the site as a car park there is the potential for
the site to be impacted by contaminants and/or made ground. As such
conditions are recommended to secure preliminary investigation, site
investigation and a scheme for remedial works unless the investigation
shows this not to be necessary. A condition is also recommended for the
submission of a post-completion report demonstrating that the

100

remediation has been completed successfully thereby negating harm
from contaminated land to future occupiers.
Impact on the Special Protection Area through nutrification:
67. The water environment within the Solent region is one of the most
important for wildlife in the United Kingdom. The Solent water environment
is internationally important for its wildlife and is protected under the Water
Environment Regulations and the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations as well as national protection for many parts of the coastline
and their sea. There are high levels of nitrogen and phosphorus input into
this water environment with sound evidence that these nutrients are
causing eutrophication at the designated sites (Solent & Southampton
Water Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar site and the Solent
Maritime Special Area of Conservation (SAC)). These nutrient inputs are
currently caused mostly by wastewater from existing housing and
agricultural sources. The resulting dense mats of green algae are
impacting on the Solent’s protected habitats and bird species.
68. There is the potential for future housing developments (which involve a net
increase in dwellings) across the Solent region to further exacerbate these
impacts and thereby create a risk to the potential future conservation status
of the Solent Complex and the features for which it is designated, therefore
acting against the stated conservation objectives of the European sites.
69. Natural England have advised that residential developments achieve
nutrient neutrality. To this end, Natural England have published
methodology to calculate nitrate levels and produce a ‘nutrient budget’
regarding the existing and predicted levels of nitrates leaching into the
water environment. This budget should be able to demonstrate no
increase in nutrients, known as “nutrient neutrality”. Where an increase in
nutrient levels is expected, Natural England advise mitigation should be
provided to offset this increase and ensure the protected habitats are
protected, prior to issuing a decision. Following recent case law, the LPA
are no longer able to condition mitigation details be provided post
permission being granted.
70. Through S106 obligations, mitigation off-site through the removal of land
from agricultural use is provided and, as competent authority, Eastleigh
Borough Council has undertaken the Appropriate Assessment on this basis
with the conclusion that the impact can be satisfactorily mitigated. The
applicant has committed to using the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife
Trust scheme which if Members are minded to permit the scheme will be
secured by legal agreement.
71. Impact on the Special Protection Area through recreational
disturbance

101

72. Another ecological issue is that the site is located within the 5.6km buffer of
the Solent & Southampton Water Special Protection Area, which is an
internationally designated conservation site and is protected for its
overwintering birds. The proposal will result in eight new dwellings being
constructed on the site and it is recognised that new house building is
placing increased pressure on these overwintering birds from an increase
in people visiting the coastline.
73. As such the Council requires all housing developments within the buffer to
make a financial contribution towards the Solent Recreation Mitigation
Strategy (based on the number and size of the dwellings), which through
ongoing management of the coastline will mitigate the increase in the
recreation disturbance caused by the development. The applicant has
committed to making this payment, which if Members are minded to permit
the scheme will also be secured by legal agreement.
Planning obligation /considerations
74. In line with ministerial statements and case law this development for eight
additional dwellings cannot require contributions towards affordable
housing or tariff style contributions towards matters such as transport
infrastructure. Excluded from this are contributions towards mitigating the
direct impacts of the development in terms of the impact of nutrients on the
Southampton and Solent Special Protection Area and SAC, the applicant
has suggested that they wish to use the scheme promoted by the Isle of
Wight Wildlife Trust to mitigate this impact.
75. An additional contribution will be required towards the Solent mitigation and
disturbance strategy, which manages the coastline in order to offset the
recreational pressure from new housing developments on overwintering
birds in the Solent and Southampton Water SAC.
76. A final contribution will be required towards the creation of a traffic
regulation order.
77. The applicant has confirmed their agreement to allow access to the
remaining social club car park for public use. The land falls outside of the
application site, but is within the applicant’s ownership, so a legal
agreement will need to be completed to ensure its use in perpetuity.
78. The recommendation is subject to the application being delegated to the
Head of Housing and Development to secure the above matters within a
suitably worded planning obligation.
Other material considerations
Equalities Implications:

102

79. Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 created the public sector equality
duty. Section149 states:a. A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due
regard to the need to:
i. eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any
other conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act;
ii. advance equality of opportunity between persons who share
a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not
share it;
iii. foster good relations between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.
80. When making policy decisions, the Council must take account of the
equality duty and in particular any potential impact on protected groups. It
is considered that this application does not raise any equality implications.
Conclusion
81. The proposal for residential development on this site is considered to be
acceptable in principle as it is located in a sustainable location, within the
urban area, close to local facilities. The loss of the car park and private
green space is a negative result, but one that currently cannot be
controlled via the planning process. However, the proposal will include a
smaller ecological enhancement area to replace some of the habitat lost. In
addition, the applicant has offered public access to, and use of, the car
parking area belonging to the social club. These positive benefits can be
secured by a planning obligation.
82. It is considered that the impacts on amenity, ecology, landscape and
drainage are acceptable and the development would comply with the
relevant Saved Policies of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2001 –
2011). The recommendation is therefore to delegate the decision to permit
to the Head of Housing and Development subject to securing public access
to the remainder of the car park and contributions towards the mitigating
the development impact on the SPA.

103

104

